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2001 will be remembered as one of the most challenging 12
months our industry has ever faced. During the year, a slowing
economy produced a steady decline in business and leisure
travel, driving down hotel occupancies. That negative trend
was exacerbated by the horrific events of September 11, after
which travel virtually ground to a halt and hotel occupancies
fell precipitously. Industrywide, RevPAR declined 6.9 percent,
marking the worst downturn in lodging history and more than
twice the previous record RevPAR decline of 2.6 percent in

1991. These conditions were in stark contrast to 2000, the

g

JEFFREY H. FISHER
Chief Executive Officer

and President The positive news for 2001 is that we met the challenges of a

most profitable year ever experienced in the industry, when

RevPAR rose 6.5 percent.

very fough year. Despite the unprecedented circumstances, Innkeepers remained a very profitable
company (with earnings per share of $0.47 and FFO per share of $1.52, or $73 million of total
FFO plus noncash amortization), continued to pay dividends ($47 million), produced cash flow
for capital improvements of $26 million in order to maintain its properties in competitive condition
and maintained a strong balance sheet.

One positive footnote to the lodging industry’s worst year is the continuing moderation of room
supply. Industry experts predict that room starts will decline from 95,000 in 2001 to 33,000 in

2002. This will be the third lowest level of room starts in the 34 years for which industry data has

been tracked. This reduction in supply should have a positive effect on the recovery process.

Following the events of September 11, our close association with our affiliated lessee and
manager enabled us to react quickly to the sudden drop-off in lodging demand. Our property
managers worked hard to find new ways to bolster revenues in a demanding operating climate.
Rather than slashing marketing budgets, our managers developed more targeted sales initiatives
and created specific marketing strategies for various segments, e.g., the government market. They

spent a great deal of time redefining their customer bose, given the changes in travel pafterns.

With corporate transient demand still at relatively low levels, they recognized the need for their




sales and marketing teams to refocus their efforts on a different customer mix. In Florida, for
example, where tourist travel is down, they began fo target regional and local events, like
weddings and family reunions, which has helped offset the tourism decline there. We also worked
closely with our managers in completing renovations. Our managers also focused on improving
yield management to help boost occupancy in this unique environment. The ultimate objective is
to gain market share as the economy rebounds, and we've worked very hard with our managers
to position ourselves for an eventual recovery.

As a direct result of these efforts and on the strength of the Residence Inn brand, our occupancy
for the full year and fourth quarter exceeded industry levels. Our 44 Residence Inn by Marrioft
hotels achieved occupancy levels of 69 percent and 75 percent for the fourth quarter and full-year
2001, respectively, compared to annual industry occupancy of 60 percent in 2001.

Despite the challenging environment in 2001, we continued tfo invest in our hotels to ensure the
high quality of our product. In 2001, we spent $30 million on capital improvements, the majority
of which went toward finishing a complete interior and exterior renovation of the company’s 15-
year old Residence Inn hotels. Most of the Company's 15-year old Residence Inn hotels have been
substantially renovated in the last few years. As a result, our hotels will be better able o gain
market share in their respective locations.

Our financial strength enables us to continue to selectively pursue acquisition and development
opportunities, even during economic slowdowns. Our Tyson’s Corner, Va. Residence Inn opened
in January 2001, and although the hotel is still in the ramp-up stage, early results are positive. Our
17 4-suite Saddle River Residence Inn in northern New Jersey broke ground and is expected to
open in October 2002, just as many experts are predicting the economy will begin to rebound.
As business fundomentals improve, we hope to see a number of opportunities to buy existing
upscale extended stay hotels and limited service hotels at discounts to replacement costs and at
aftractive returns. We will be watching pricing trends carefully and respond appropriately.

As a REIT, our dividend is the cornerstone of our financial structure. Our policy has been to pay
out approximately 100 percent of our taxable income, compared to the 90 percent level required

by the IRS for REIT qualification purposes. During the first three quarters, we paid common share

dividends totaling $0.90 per share, while in the fourth quarter we paid a one cent dividend. The




$0.91 cash dividend we poid in 2001 equalled 100 percent of our taxable income.

in 2002, we again expect to pay out 100 percent of our taxable income in dividends. Based on
our earnings guidance for the year, which assumes a five percent decline in RevPAR and that
business travel recovers in the second half, we expect to pay a common share dividend of between
$0.50 and $0.60 and to continue to pay the $2.156 dividend on our Series A convertible
preferred shares. In February, we declared a first quarter 2002 common share dividend of $0.08.
We will continue to review our dividend quarterly and fix the amount based on our operating
results, economic conditions, and capital expenditure requirements.

Financially, Innkeepers continues fo maintain a strong capital structure with among the lowest
levered balance sheet and best debt coverage ratios in the industry. Our earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization {EBITDA)+o-interest expense coverage ratio and EBITDA-to-
fixed charge coverage ratio at year end were 4.9 times and 2.3 times, respectively. Our debt-to-
investment in hotels at cost ratio was 30 percent as of December 31, 2001, and our weighted
average inferest rate on our total debt was 7.2 percent. Approximately 88 percent of our total
debt is at fixed rates, with 85 percent of our total debt due in 2006 and beyond.

Internally, we continue to examine strategic alternatives regarding the lessee position available
under the REIT Modernization Act. An independent financial consultant has recommended that we
pursue a fransaction with our affiliated lessee in order to more closely align the interests of our
managers with the Company's and to gain more direct control over our assets. We expect to
pursue a transaction in 2002.

As we enter 2002, hopefully the worst is behind us. Many forecasters are predicting the
beginning of an economic recovery later this year, and while the exact timing remains unclear, we
are very confident that we have a solid foundation and the financial flexibility for future growth.
We strongly believe that our business model based on leading brands, a strong balance sheet and
excellent property managers will enable us to successfully weather this cycle.

Sincerely,

L—""

Jeffrey H. Fisher
Chief Executive Officer and President
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)

X ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file No. 0-24568

INNKEEPERS USA TRUST

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Maryland 65-0503831
(State or other jurisdiction (LR.S. employer
of incorporation or organization) identification no.)
306 Royal Poinciana Way, Palm Beach, Florida 33480
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area cede: (561) 835-1800

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
SERIES A PREFERRED SHARES, par value of $.01 per share New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
COMMON SHARES, par value of $.01 per share New York Stock Exchange

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.
Yes X No_

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information
statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [ ]

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s only class of common equity, its common shares, $.01
par value per share, as of March 15, 2002, was 34,784,558. The aggregate market value of the common stock held
by nonaffiliates of the registrant as of March 15, 2002 was approximately $370,000,000.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Registrant’s 2001 proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
with respect to the Registrant’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 7, 2002 are incorporated by
reference into Part IIT hereof.
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THIS REPORT CONTAINS AND INCORPORATES BY REFERENCE “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS” WITHIN THE
MEANING OF FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, STATEMENTS CONTAINING THE WORDS
“ESTIMATES,” “PROJECTS,” “BELIEVES,” “ANTICIPATES,” “EXPECTS” AND WORDS OF SIMILAR IMPORT. FACTORS
IDENTIFIED OR INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE IN THIS REPORT WHICH COULD CAUSE ACTUAL RESULTS TO DIFFER INCLUDE
BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO THOSE DISCUSSED IN THE SECTIONS ENTITLED “INTERNAL GROWTH STRATEGY,” “ACQUISITION
AND DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY,” “PROPERTY OPERATIONS,” AND “MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.” SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS RELATE TO FUTURE
EVENTS IN THE FUTURE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF OUR COMPANY AND INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS,
UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER FACTORS WHICH MAY CAUSE THE ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS OF OUR
COMPANY TO BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM THE RESULTS OR ACHIEVEMENT EXPRESSED AND IMPLIED BY SUCH
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. THESE RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER FACTORS ARE DISCUSSED IN THE “RISK
FACTORS” SECTION OF THIS ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K, AND IN OTHER REPORTS FILED FROM TIME TO TIME WITH
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION. WE ARE NOT OBLIGATED TO UPDATE ANY SUCH FACTORS OR TO REFLECT
THE IMPACT OF ACTUAL FUTURE EVENTS OR DEVELOPMENTS ON SUCH FORWARD~LOOKING STATEMENTS.

PARTI
Ttem 1. Business
(a) General

Innkeepers USA Trust (“Innkeepers”) is a self-administered real estate investment trust (“REIT”).
Innkeepers owns interests in 67 hotels with an aggregate of 8,131 rooms/suites (the “Hotels”) through its partnership
interests in Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership (with its subsidiary partnerships, the “Partnership” and collectively
with Innkeepers, the “Company™).

The Company leases 61 of the Hotels to Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. (or affiliated entities, collectively the
“IH Lessee”) and six of the Hotels (the “Summerfield Hotels™) to affiliates of Wyndham International, Inc. (the
“Summerfield Lessee” and together with the IH Lessee, the “Lessees™), pursuant to percentage leases (the
“Percentage Leases”). The Percentage Leases allow the Company to participate in increased revenue from the
Hotels by providing for the payment of rent based on percentages of room revenues. Each Percentage Lease also
provides for a minimum base rent to be paid in the event that percentage rent does not exceed that base rent. The IH
Lessee has entered into management contracts (the “Marriott Management Agreements”) with wholly-owned
subsidiaries of Marriott International, Inc. (“Marriott”), one of the largest operators of upscale extended-stay hotels
in the United States, to manage 17 of the Hotels. The Summerfield Lessee has entered into management contracts
with its affiliates to manage the six Summerfield Hotels. The [H Lessee manages 44 of the Hotels it leases from the
Company.

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Trustees controls the TH
Lessee. A Trustee of the Company is a director of Wyndham International, Inc.

The Company focuses primarily on upscale extended-stay hotels and 52 of the Company’s 67 hotels are in
the upscale extended-stay segment. Upscale extended-stay hotels are typified by the following characteristics: (i)
their principal customer base is business travelers who are on assignment for executive training and consulting,
project assignment and corporate relocations; (ii) their service and amenities include complimentary breakfast and
evening cocktails, limited meeting space, daily linen and room cleaning service, 24-hour front desk, guest grocery
services, and an on-site maintenance staff; and (iii) their physical facilities include large rooms, quality construction,
full separate kitchens, quality room furnishings, pool, and exercise facilities. The upscale extended-stay hotel
concept was developed by Jack P. DeBoer, who founded the Residence Inn brand and, with co-founder Rolf E.
Ruhfus, the Summerfield Suites brand. Both Mr. DeBoer and Mr. Ruhfus serve on the Company’s Board of
Trustees.




The following charts set forth certain information with respect to the Hotels at December 31, 2001:
Number of
Franchise Affiliation Number of Hotels Rooms/Suites
Upscale Extended-Stay
Residence Inn by Marriott 45 5315
Summerfield Suites 6 759
Sunrise Suites 1 96
52 6,170
Mid-Priced
Hampton Inn 12 1,526
Courtyard by Marriott 1 136
TownePlace Suites by Marriott 1 95
Holiday Inn Express 1 204
15 1,961
67 8,131
Number Number of Percentage of
State of Hotels Suites/Roomts Suites/Rooms
California 11 1,621 19.9%
Washington 5 624 7.7
Florida 5 599 7.4
Illinois 4 560 6.9
Texas 4 544 6.7
Michigan 5 516 6.3
Georgia 3 429 53
Pennsylvania 3 325 4.0
New York 3 319 3.9
Maryland 2 310 3.8
New Jersey 3 308 3.8
Virginia 3 305 3.8
Massachusetts 2 303 3.7
Colorado 2 284 35
Connecticut 2 192 2.4
Kentucky 2 176 2.2
Indiana 2 168 2.1
Minnesota 1 126 1.5
Oregon 1 112 1.4
North Carolina 1 88 1.1
Ohio 1 80 0.9
Maine 1 78 0.9
Kansas i 64 0.8
67 8,131 100.0%




(b)

(©

Finaneial Infermation About Industry Segments

The Company is in the business of acquiring equity interests in hotel properties and limits its activities to
one industry segment. See the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto included in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

Narrative Description of Business

General. The Company is a self-administered Maryland real estate investment trust which owned equity
interests in 67 hotels with an aggregate of 8,131 rooms/suites as of December 31, 2001. Innkeepers (through a
wholly-owned subsidiary) owned approximately 96% of the total Common Units and all of the Series A Preferred
Units of the Partnership at December 31, 2001. Third parties owned approximately 4% of the total Common Units,
and all of the Class B Preferred Units, of the Partnership at December 31, 2001. These third parties received their
units in exchange for interests in hotels that they contributed to the Partnership.

Internal Growth Strategy. The Percentage Leases are designed to allow the Company to participate in
growth in room revenue at the Hotels by providing for the payment of rent based upon percentages of room
revenues (“Percentage Rent”). Under the Percentage Leases, once room revenues at a Hotel reach a specified level
(a “Revenue Break Point”), the Company receives between 68% and 70% of incremental room revenues. Each
Percentage Lease also provides for a fixed annual base rent (“Base Rent”). Percentage Rent and Base Rent are
referred to sometimes in this document as “Rent.” The Percentage Leases generally provide that annual Base Rent
and the Revenue Break Points for the payment of Percentage Rent will be adjusted annually based on changes in the
U.S. Consumer Price Index (“CPI”).

The Company seeks to increase Percentage Lease payments through the following: (i) aggressive asset
management, which includes monitoring the operators’ marketing programs, sales management policies and
operational initiatives at the Hotels, (ii) significant and continuing reinvestment in the Hotels, and (iii) the possible
development of hotels on a selected basis.

Sales and Revenue Management. The IH Lessee uses market-oriented sales management programs to
coordinate, direct and manage the sales activities of personnel located at each hotel it operates or oversees. Each
property has a detailed marketing and business plan that outlines their strategy relative to corporate accounts, market
segments, group revenue targets and new business goals.

Daily and weekly sales reports are generated by each salesperson through the daily use of an account
management database program. Sales associates input data that identifies all sales related activities which have
taken place during the day (e.g., appointments, sales calls, direct mailings, incoming calls) and the results of such
actions (e.g., appointments made, literature sent, revenue booked). Each salesperson also inputs any comments
made by prospective or existing customers, the potential for new or continued business and the timing of the follow-
up action required. The data from each hotel is synchronized regularly with the corporate office and maintained in a
master database.

At December 31, 2001, the IH Lessee employed a corporate vice president of sales, two corporate sales
directors, four regional managers and dedicated sales associates at each hotel to oversee sales and marketing efforts.
The sales reports permit management to promptly evaluate a salesperson’s productivity as measured by the quantity
of sales calls versus targets, call results and revenue booked. These sales reports also allow comparisons of the
ongoing sales efforts at the applicable hotel to the marketing and business plan established for each hotel and allow
management to adapt the marketing and business plan accordingly.

Marriott and the Summerfield Lessee use focused, well-developed sales management programs at the
hotels operated by them. The Company and the IH Lessee had employed an asset manager to oversee the
relationships with Marriott and the Summerfield Lessee, including reviewing sales efforts and results, pricing and
positioning, market share data, operational initiatives, guest satisfaction, capital programs, as well as physically
inspecting the properties on a regular basis. This position is currently vacant and will be filled as industry
conditions and the Company’s results improve.




The TH Lessee employs a corporate revenue management team to provide leadership, guidance and
expertise in support of the properties’ planning and execution of fundamental revenue management principles. This
includes pricing relative to market demand; positioning to competitive set; corporate account and group pricing;
yield management tactics; turndown and market share analysis. Additionally, this team ensures that each property’s
reservation system is set up effectively. Marriott and the Summerfield Lessee have similar initiatives in place.

Capital Improvements, Renovation and Refurbishment. The Percentage Leases require the Lessees to
maintain the Hotels in a condition that complies with their respective franchise licenses and the Marriott
Management Agreements, among other requirements. In addition, the Company may upgrade the Hotels in order to
capitalize on opportunities to increase revenue, and as needed to meet competitive conditions and preserve asset
quality. The Company will also renovate Hotels when it believes the investment in renovations will provide an
attractive return to the Company through increased revenue under the Percentage Leases or is otherwise in the best
interests of the Company.

The Percentage Leases generally obligate the Company to make available to the Lessees an amount equal
to 4% or 5% of room revenue, on a monthly basis, for use by the Lessees (or Marriott, under the Marriott
Management Agreements) to repair or replace furiture, fixtures and equipment and for other capital expenditures at
the Hotels. The Company’s obligation is cumulative and carries forward to the extent that such amounts are not
used by the Lessees (or Marriott). The Company expended approximately $30 million, $19 million and $17 million
in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, for furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other capital expenditures at
the hotels owned during these periods. The Company expects to spend approximately $20 to $23 million for such
purposes in 2002. These amounts substantially exceeded the amounts required to be made available under the
Percentage Leases.

Acquisition and Development Strategy. The Company’s primary acquisition and development strategy
includes acquiring or developing hotels that are (i) upscale extended-stay hotels, (ii) located in markets with
relatively high barriers to entry and/or strong demand characteristics and (iii) located near other hotels owned by the
Company thereby allowing its operators to enhance revenue by capitalizing on local knowledge and directing
overflow business to Company-owned hotels. The Company also seeks to selectively acquire under-performing
hotels to which the Company can add value through repositioning in the market, renovation or re-flagging to
premium hotel brands.

Target Markets. The Company’s focus is on markets that have high barriers to entry relative to other
markets, such as in New England, the Middle Atlantic and the Pacific coast region states, which are generally
characterized by scarcity or high cost of available land, extensive permit approval requirements, restrictive zoning,
stringent local development laws, a relatively long lead time required to develop an upscale extended-stay hotel and
the relatively higher costs associated with such development. In addition, the Company seeks out submarkets within
favorable regions that have multiple fast-growing demand generators, such as major office or manufacturing
complexes, airports, major colleges and universities and medical centers with convenient access to major
thoroughfares. Additionally, the Company seeks hotels in proximity to hotels already owned by the Company,
where the Company’s operators may draw upon their knowledge of local market conditions, develop certain
economies of scale and cross-market among the Hotels in the same area.

Acquisition of Upscale Extended-Stay Hotels. The Company focuses on acquiring upscale extended-stay
hotels because of the performance of that segment, which has resulted primarily (i) from the prevailing social and
economic changes that are increasing the demand for upscale extended-stay hotels, including the increasing
tendency of businesses to conduct on- and off-site training for employees, corporate out-sourcing and the use of
consultants, and the general increased mobility of the United States workforce, (i1) from the ability to generate a
more consistent revenue stream than traditional hotels due to higher average occupancies and longer average stays
and (iii) because the demand for hotel rooms by guests who stay longer than five consecutive room nights has
exceeded the number of currently existing extended-stay hotel rooms. Extended-stay hotels also require less staff
and have lower fixed charges than other hotel types and are designed and operated in a way that typically has
resulted in higher operating margins than most other hotel types. Relatively low fixed costs and relatively high
margins help maintain and enhance the cash flow from, and asset value of, extended-stay hotels, particularly in a
down economic period. The Company also believes that its relationships, particularly with Marriott, will provide it
with opportunities to acquire desirable hotel properties, primarily in the upscale, extended-stay segment.




Acquisition of Under-Performing Hotels. Although the primary focus of the Company is on the upscale
extended-stay segment, the Company will from time to time consider acquisition of under-performing mid-priced
and full service hotels that have the potential for strategic repositioning in the market or re-flagging to a premium
franchise brand, or that can benefit from substantial renovation. Generally, hotels that meet the Company’s
investment criteria include (i) poorly managed hotels that have the potential for increased performance following the
introduction of a quality management team, (1) hotels in deteriorated physical condition that could benefit
significantly from renovation, and/or (iii) hotels in attractive locations that the Company believes could benefit
significantly by changing franchises to a brand the Company believes is superior, such as Hampton Inn or Courtyard
by Marriott.

Development. The Company developed and opened a 121-room Residence Inn by Marriott hotel located in
Tysons Corner, VA on January 8, 2001. The total cost of this project was approximately $14 million.

The Company is developing a 174-room Residence Inn by Marriott hotel in Saddle River, NJ. At
December 31, 2001, the Company had invested approximately $8,998,000 in the proposed development, which
includes the land cost of approximately $3,000,000. Construction commenced in June 2001 and the total cost of this
project is currently estimated to be approximately $25 million. Completion of the project is anticipated in the third
quarter of 2002. The development costs are expected to be funded by borrowings under the Company’s $135
million uncollateralized line of credit (“Line of Credit™). The IH Lessee is expected to lease and/or manage the
hotel upon completion.

The Company also reviews other development opportunities for hotels that are consistent with its target
market, product and brand strategies. The Company intends to only pursue selective development of hotels that
meet its underwriting requirements (i) when the Company believes that projected incremental returns adequately
compensate for the costs and any incremental risk assumed by the Company, (i1) when the Company believes that a
hotel developed by the Company will create or increase synergies with other Company-owned hotels in the area that
will enhance the performance of all of those hotels or (iii) in order to maintain control of a site determined to have
superior hotel potential.

Property Operations — The IH Lessee. The Company believes that the quality of the on-site hotel
operators is important to the future growth in Percentage Lease revenue from the Hotels. The IH Lessee leases 61 of
the Hotels pursuant to the Percentage Leases. The IH Lessee and its affiliates manage 44 of the Hotels.

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Trustees controls the IH
Lessee. The TH Lessee currently employs approximately 1,400 people. Under the Percentage Leases, the ITH Lessee
generally is required to perform or provide for all operational and management functions necessary to operate the
Hotels that it leases. Such functions include accounting, periodic reporting, ordering supplies, direct sales and
marketing, maid service, laundry, and preventative maintenance and repairs. The IH Lessee is entitled to all revenue
from the Hotels after the payment of rent under the Percentage Leases and other operating expenses, including any
management fees payable to third-party managers.

The IH Lessee operates Hampton Inn, Residence Inn by Marriott, Courtyard by Marriott and Holiday Inn
Express hotels under franchise agreements. The Company has paid or will pay the cost of obtaining certain
franchise license agreements. The franchise agreements require the IH Lessee to pay fees based on a percentage of
hotel revenue. The franchisors periodically inspect their licensed hotels to confirm adherence to their operating
standards. The results of these inspections can resuit in additional capital expenditure requirements for the
Company, or additional operational, marketing or repairs and maintenance expenses for the IH Lessee. The
Company has guaranteed certain obligations of the IH Lessee under the franchise licenses, generally in exchange for
certain rights to substitute replacement lessees if the Company terminates the related Percentage Lease. See “—
Internal Growth Strategy—Sales and Revenue Management” for more information on the IH Lessee’s operations,
and “Properties — The Percentage Leases” for further information on the Percentage Leases.

Property Operations — Marriott Management. Marriott currently operates 16 Residence Inn by Marriott
hotels and one TownePlace Suites by Marriott hotel pursuant to the Marriott Management Agreements with the IH
Lessee. Marriott is one of the largest operators of upscale extended-stay hotels in the U.S. The Company believes
that Marriott’s management of the Hotels will enable the Company to realize the benefits of Marriott’s resources




and broad-based hotel operations experience. The Marriott Management Agreements allow the hotels subject
thereto to be operated as Residence Inn by Marriott or TownePlace Suites hotels for the duration of the agreements,
provided that the hotels are maintained in accordance with system standards. The Marriott Management
Agreements may be extended by Marriott for an additional term if the Company has achieved a specified return on
its initial investment. Marriott may terminate one or more of the Marriott Management Agreements upon the
occurrence of certain events, including the IH Lessee’s failure to make any payment or perform other covenants
under the Marriott Management Agreements or a bankruptcy of the TH Lessee or the Company. If a Marriott
Management Agreement is terminated for any reason other than a default by Marriott, the hotel to which the
agreement relates will not be entitled to operate thereafter as a Residence Inn by Marriott or TownePlace Suites
hotel. Marriott may be terminated as manager of a hotel if certain performance criteria set forth in the relevant
Marriott Management Agreement are not met, subject to certain exceptions and cure rights. In that event, an
approved operator designated by the Company may enter into a then-current form of Residence Inn or TownePlace
Suites franchise license and, subject to system requirements, continue to operate the hotel as a Residence Inn by
Marriott or TownePlace Suites hotel.

Under each Marriott Management Agreement, the IH Lessee is required to pay to Marriott a base
management fee, a franchise system fee and a marketing fee, all of which are based on the revenues at the relevant
Hotel, and an incentive management fee based on net income of the hotel. The IH Lessee is responsible for making
all payments to Marriott under the Marriott Management Agreements. The Company has loaned the IH Lessee the
working capital deposit required under the ITH Lessee’s management agreements with Marriott (these loans totaled
$905,000 at December 31, 2001). The Company has also agreed to be secondarily liable for certain of the IH
Lessee’s obligations, generally in exchange for certain rights to substitute replacement lessees if the Company
terminates the related Percentage Lease.

Property Operations — The Summerfield Lessee. The Summerfield Lessee leases and operates six of the
Summerfield Hotels. Under the Percentage Leases, the Summerfield Lessee generally is required to perform or
provide for all operational and management functions necessary to operate the Hotels. Such functions include
accounting, periodic reporting, ordering supplies, advertising and marketing, maid service, laundry, and repairs and
maintenance. The Summerfield Lessee is entitled to all revenue from the hotels after the payment of rent under the
Percentage Leases, management or franchise fees and any other hotel operating expenses (including property and
casualty insurance). Summerfield may be terminated as lessee of a hotel if certain performance criteria set forth in
the Percentage Leases are not met, subject to certain exceptions.

The Company believes that the Summerfield Lessee may not have met certain minimum performance
obligations set forth in its Percentage Leases for at least one Hotel for the year 2001. Discussions are ongoing with
the Summerfield Lessee about these performance issues, certain capital expenditure and maintenance obligations,
the new law on taxable REIT subsidiaries and related matters. To the extent that a Percentage Lease requires the
Summerfield Lessee to fund certain capital expenditures at a Hotel in excess of the Company’s funding obligation,
if the lease terminates the Company may pay more of the costs of those capital expenditures than it is currently
obligated to fund. In addition, if the Company pays the Summerfield Lessee to terminate any lease, the payment
would be an expense on the Company’s income statement in the quarter that such payment is made.

The REIT Modernization Act. On January 1, 2001, a new law became effective that allows a REIT to
own up to 100% of the stock of one or more “taxable REIT subsidiaries.” These subsidiaries are subject to
corporate level income taxes and any after-tax income will be captured by the REIT (to the extent of its interest in
the subsidiary). Hotel REITs are prohibited from operating hotels through taxable REIT subsidiaries. A hotel REIT
can, however, lease hotels in which it owns an interest to a taxable REIT subsidiary if the subsidiary engages an
“eligible independent contractor” to manage the hotels. An eligible independent contractor cannot (i) own more
than 35% of the REIT, (ii) be owned more than 35% by persons owning more than 35% of the REIT or (iii) provide
any income to the REIT (i.e., the REIT cannot own any debt or equity securities of the third party operator).
Further, at the time it is engaged to manage a hotel in which the REIT owns an interest, the eligible independent
contractor must be actively engaged in the trade or business of operating hotels for persons other than the REIT. As
a result of these changes, a hotel REIT, through a taxable REIT subsidiary, can engage a third party to operate its
hotels under a traditional hotel management agreement rather than a lease agreement (like the Percentage Leases).
The Company has retained an advisor to explore how, whether and to what extent it can or should apply the new law
to its existing hotels. The advisor has recommended that the Company pursue a transaction with the IH Lessee.




Although no specific transaction is under active consideration at this time, the Company expects to undertake
consideration of a proposed transaction in the near future. If the Company pays any consideration to terminate a
lease, the payment would be an expense on the Company’s income statement in the quarter that such payment is
made and that any such payment could be substantial. A transaction under the new law may involve the conversion
of existing Percentage Leases into management contracts. To the extent that the Company leases hotels to a taxable
REIT subsidiary and engages a third party manager, it will be exposed to the risks of operating hotels, including any
increases or decreases in operating expenses or net income of the hotels.

Risk Factors. An investment in the Company is subject to significant risks, which the Company discloses
in reports filed from time to time with the SEC. A discussion of “Risk Factors” is included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K beginning on page R-1.

Item 2. Properties

The following tables set forth certain information with respect to the Hotels as of December 31, 2001.

Year Ended December 31, 2001

Number Lease
of Suites/ Room Payment Occupancy ADR RevPAR
Rooms Revenue [0} 2) 2) 2)
Residence Imn )
Addison, TX ..o creienns 150 $3,469,254 $1,517,340 67.28% $94.18 $63.36
Altamonte Springs, FL . . 128 3,279,500 1,225,970 73.10 96.02 70.19
Arlington, TX ..ocoovvreiniinrcnrieeneen 114 2,799,176 1,209,238 75.88 88.65 67.27
Atlanta (Downtown), GA ........cccovvenane. 160 4,531,847 1,716,144 77.10 100.64 77.59
Atlanta (Peachtree Corners), GA 120 2,921,923 1,122,082 75.54 88.32 66.72
Bellevue, WA ... 120 4,592,304 2,323,297 77.32 135.61 104.35
Binghamton, NY ... 72 1,828,518 747,552 76.12 91.41 69.58
Bothell, WA ... . 120 3,674,601 1,744,283 74.55 112.53 83.89
Cherry Hill, NJ...... . 96 2,770,600 1,153,228 82.88 95.40 79.07
Columbus East, OH............covevvevreennne, 80 2,014,468 674,029 77.18 89.39 68.99
Denver (Downtown), CO......ccoccervnnen. 156 4,815,724 2,078,583 83.82 100.90 84.57
Denver (South), CO ...... " 128 3,142,480 1,361,453 71.67 93.84 67.26
East Lansing, MI ....... . 60 1,539,356 637,150 77.06 91.21 70.29
Eden Prairie, MN .. 126 3,072,015 1,255,344 75.43 88.55 66.79
Fort Wayne, IN... 80 1,692,719 653,596 75.52 76.76 57.97
Fremont, CA....... . 80 2,684,268 1,180,496 67.69 135.81 91.93
Gaithersburg, MD .....ccooovievvrernenen. 132 4,458,334 2,191,801 84.36 109.69 92.53
Grand Rapids, MI......c..cccovvinncnnannnne 96 2,429,419 1,069,481 79.34 87.39 69.34
Harrisburg, PA ...... . 80 2,547,146 1,138,840 84.43 103.32 87.23
Indianapolis, IN.. 88 1,773,022 534,890 67.59 81.67 55.20
Lexington, KY.... 80 2,057,899 801,083 86.90 81.10 70.48
Livonia, MI ........ 112 3,432,046 1,502,900 81.51 103.00 83.96
Louisville, KY .... . 96 2,384,410 1,007,233 73.12 93.07 68.05
Lynnwood, WA ... 120 3,308,566 1,565,967 78.37 96.39 75.54
Mountain View (Palo Alto), CA .......... 112 5,779,425 3,414,169 81.50 173.46 141.37
Ontario, CA ..ocovvveevcveieniinrans . 199 5,875,847 2,800,230 81.33 99.46 80.89
Portland, ME ......... 78 2,082,285 872,748 79.16 92.39 73.14
Portland South, OR ... 112 2,570,384 1,427,113 74.72 . 84.15 62.88
Richmond, VA .......... 80 1,728,493 605,799 65.85 89.89 59.19
Richmond NW, VA ... . 104 2,065,679 870,700 57.68 94.34 54.42
Rosemont, IL.......cooeieiiiiiii e, 192 6,064,568 2,786,759 80.81 107.09 86.54
San Jose, CA ....cocovveieivereereceereeenn, 80 3,366,853 1,644,661 76.79 150.15 115.30
San Jose South, CA . 150 6,114,027 2,916,501 77.18 144,69 111.67
San Mateo, CA ...... . 159 5,918,562 2,960,343 71.08 143.47 101.98
Shelton, CT ........... 96 3,532,270 1,780,384 80.57 125.11 100.80
Silicon Valley [, CA .. 231 9,191,910 5,085,246 67.77 160.86 109.01
Silicon Valley II, CA. . 247 9,399,714 5,222,585 66.54 156.68 104.25
Troy (Central), MI.......cccooviverccrcccnnennn 152 3,708,512 1,705,043 63.31 105.58 66.84
Troy (Southeast), MI........cooovencnnnnn. 96 2,121,046 840,494 72.68 99.43 72.27
Tukwila, WA ............ . 144 4,791,109 2,361,087 84.38 108.03 91.16
Tysons Corner, VA . 121 3,358,964 1,672,108 60.79 127.55 77.54
Vancouver, WA...... .. 120 2,628,906 1,479,395 72.98 82.24 60.02
Wichita East, KS . 64 1,479,242 498,452 76.40 82.89 63.33
Windsor, CT ...oeevieveveeiceeecvecereane 96 3,072,325 1,359,010 76.19 115.08 87.68
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Year Ended December 31, 2001

Number Lease
of Suites/ Reom Payment Occupancey ADR RevPAR
Rooms Revenue (1) (2) 2) (2)

Winston-Salem, NC ....cco..coovvenrecnicanan 88 1,716,913 632,177 63.88 83.67 5345
Summerfield Suites

Addison, TX ..o, 132 3,386,020 1,280,504 77.13 91.12 70.28

Belmont, CA ..... 132 6,280,674 3,391,961 81.77 159.43 130.37

El Segundo, CA........... 122 4,308,219 2,025,023 81.46 118.77 96.75

Irving (Las Colinas), TX. 148 4,585,801 2,065,854 80.52 105.43 84.89

Mount Laurel, NJ ............ 116 3,390,400 1,252,966 85.98 93.14 80.08

West Hollywood, CA ...c.cccvvvrvcinne. 109 3,002,631 1,304,715 72,57 104.00 75.47
Hampton Inn

Albany/Latham, NY .....ccoceivninniarreinns 126 2,575,469 1,312,441 65.41 85.62 56.00

Germantown, MD ........... 178 3,054,896 1,470,680 56.11 83.79 47.01

Islandia (Long Island), NY . 121 4,295,834 2,334,340 73.23 132.82 97.26

Lombard (Chicago), Il..... 128 2,227,997 969,518 56.05 85.08 47.69

Naples, FL....ccccou... 107 1,697,070 622,144 56.88 76.40 43.46

Noreross, GA ..o enneneenens 149 2,009,341 752,269 56.24 65.70 36.95

Schaumburg (Chicago), IL.......cco.ceu.. 128 2,630,788 1,336,671 62.86 89.58 56.31

Tallahassee, FL ............... 93 2,043,144 1,047,423 79.00 76.19 60.19

West Palm Beach, FL.......... 135 2,733,902 1,164,176 76.24 72.77 55.48

Westchester (Chicago), IL ......... 112 2,707,823 1,424,433 69.66 95.08 66.23

Willow Grove (Philadelphia), PA ........ 150 4,203,678 2,327,701 73.54 104.40 76.78

Woburn, MA ..o 99 2,539,416 1,241,432 63.89 110.00 70.28
Sunrise Suites

Eatontown (Tinton Falls), NJ....c..cco.... 96 2,805,607 946,460 75.82 105.60 80.07
Heliday Inn Express

Lexington, MA ......cevvrnimniveneecenennnns 204 3,765,974 1,822,894 54.66 92.52 50.57
Courtyard by Marriett

Fort Lauderdale, FL ...coccooovnicnncnnnns 136 3,156,893 1,540,047 66.35 95.84 63.59
TewnePlace Suites

Horsham, PA ....ocvvovceriern e 95 2,225,065 1,191,243 79.64 80.57 64.17
Consolidated Total /
Weighted AVErage....c.ovveereceniivnieieneccnanns 8,131 $227,413,271 $106,171,879 73.07% $105.09 $76.78

(1) Represents Percentage Lease revenue from the Lessees to the Company calculated in accordance with the Percentage Leases.
(2) Represents the occupancy, average daily rate (“ADR”) and revenue per available room (“RevPAR™) of the Hotels for the year including the
period, if any, prior to ownership by the Company. RevPAR for a hotel is calculated by multiplying its ADR by its occupancy rate.

The Percentage Leases. FEach Percentage Lease contains provisions substantially similar to those
described below, and the Company intends that future percentage leases with respect to additional hotels it may
acquire will contain substantially similar provisions.

Percentage Lease Terms. Each Percentage Lease has an initial term of at least ten years (except that the
leases for the Tysons Comer, VA and West Hollywood, CA hotels have terms of five years), subject to earlier
termination upon the occurrence of defaults thereunder and certain other events described in the Percentage Lease.
Certain of the Percentage Leases contain renewal terms of up to 15 years, which may be exercised by the Lessees.
Under the renewal provisions, the rent formula for the renewal term will be re-set to produce a then-current market
rate rent.

Amounts Payable Under the Percentage Leases. The Lessees are obligated to pay to the Company the
greater of a fixed annual Base Rent or Percentage Rent. Percentage Rent is based on percentages of room revenues
for each of the Hotels. Both the Base Rent and the Revenue Break Point (as defined in “Internal Growth Strategy”




above) in each Percentage Rent formula are adjusted annually for inflation based upon the change in the CPI during
the prior calendar year. The CPI increase effective January 1, 2002 was 1.3%. Under the Percentage Rent formula,
the Company receives between 30% and 36.5% of room revenue up to the Revenue Break Point and between 68%
and 70% of room revenue in excess of the Revenue Break Point.

Other than real estate and personal property taxes, ground lease rent (where applicable), the cost of certain
furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain capital expenditures, and property and casualty insurance, which are
obligations of the Company, the Percentage Leases require the Lessees to pay Base Rent, Percentage Rent and the
operating expenses of the Hotels during the terms of the Percentage Leases. Unlike the IH Lessee, the Summerfield
Lessee also must pay for property and casualty insurance for the six Summerfield Hotels it leases.

Maintenance and Modifications. The Percentage Leases obligate the Company to make available to the
Lessees for the repair, replacement and refurbishment of furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other capital
expenditures at the Hotels, when and as deemed necessary by the Lessees, an amount equal to 4% or 5% of room
revenues, per month on a cumulative basis. The Company’s obligation is carried forward to the extent that the
Lessees have not spent such amount, and any unspent amounts remain the property of the Company upon
termination of the Percentage Leases. In addition, the Company intends to cause the expenditure of amounts in
excess of the obligated amounts if necessary to comply with the reasonable requirements of any franchise license or
Marriott Management Agreement and otherwise to the extent that the Company deems such expenditures to be in
the best interests of the Company. Otherwise, the Lessees are required, at their expense, to (i) maintain the Hotels in
good order and repair, (ii) pay for all operating expenses of the Hotels and (iii) comply with the requirements of any
of the Company’s loan agreements (to the extent applicable to property operations or cash management), any
franchise agreement, the Marriott Management Agreements and applicable law.

Insurance. Each Percentage Lease specifies comprehensive insurance to be maintained on each of the
Hotels, including liability, property and casualty and extended coverage. The Company’s loans also require
insurance which may be more comprehensive than that required by the Percentage Leases.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Other than as described below, the Company is not presently a defendant in any material litigation, nor, to
its knowledge, is any material litigation threatened against the Company or its properties, other than routine
litigation arising in the ordinary course of business and which is expected to pose no material financial risk to the
Company and/or is expected to be covered by the Company’s or the Lessees’ insurance policies.

In May 2000, the Company’s former Chief Operating Officer (who is a minority shareholder in certain of
the TH Lessee entities) filed suit against the Company and certain IH Lessee entities. The suit alleges that he was
wrongfully terminated in breach of his employment contract and also alleges various other related claims against the
Company and the IH Lessee. The Company believes that the claims are without merit and is aggressively defending
against all allegations. Any claims that are not settled or otherwise disposed of are currently scheduled to be tried in
mid-2002. The Company has not recorded any loss provision relative to damages sought by the former executive
other than the legal costs of defense not covered by insurance policies. See also “Critical Accounting Policies” in
Item 7.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Company’s security holders between September 1, 2001 and
December 31, 2001.




PART I

[tem 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Shareholder Matters

The Company’s common shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “KPA.”
The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sales prices for the common shares, as
traded on such exchange.

High Low

2001
First quarter .....ccooevencniniinncncnenes $ 12.43 § 10.63
Second quarter.... 12.25 10.00
Third quarter....... 11.95 7.00
Fourth quarter........ccccovemcencnncnncen 9.91 6.81
First quarter .........covvivniniicrennnniennn, 8.44 7.81
Second quarter.... 9.38 8.00
Third quarter....... 10.94 8.94
Fourth quUarter.........ccccovvervcncneenen 11.44 9.75

1999
First quarter ........cocccomvmrineivionnccnneae 11.75 9.00
Second quarter.... 10.94 9.56
Third quarter....... 9.81 8.31
Fourth quarter........co.ccoecnerenvincininns 8.88 7.69

At March 14, 2002 the Company had approximately 600 holders of record of its common shares and
approximately 40 holders of record of the Series A Convertible Preferred Shares. It is estimated that there were
approximately 16,000 beneficial owners, in the aggregate, of the common and preferred shares.

IN ORDER TO COMPLY WITH CERTAIN REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO QUALIFICATION
OF THE COMPANY AS A REIT, THE COMPANY’S DECLARATION OF TRUST LIMITS THE
NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES THAT MAY BE OWNED BY ANY SINGLE PERSON OR
AFFILIATED GROUP TO 98% OF THE QUTSTANDING COMMON SHARES. SEE “RISK
FACTORS—OUR SHARE OWNERSHIP LIMITATION MAY PREVENT CERTAIN TRANSFERS OF
OUR COMMON SHARES.”

In order to maintain its qualification as a REIT, the Company must distribute at least 90% of its taxable
income. The Company’s policy is to distribute 100% of its taxable income. The following table sets forth
information regarding the declaration and payment of distributions by the Company on its common shares and
Series A Preferred Shares for the years ending December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Common Preferred
share share
Quarter to which distribution Record Payment distribution distribution
relates date date amount amoumnt
2001
FIrSt QUATTET ..ot 03/30/2001 04/24/2001 $0.30 $0.53906
Second quarter-... 06/29/2001 07/31/2001 0.30 0.53906
Third quarter...... 09/28/2001 10/30/2001 0.30 0.53906
Fourth qUarter......ccoevevvervicvrecereeerienns 12/28/2001 01/29/2002 0.01 0.53906
First quarter ....... 03/31/2000 04/25/2000 0.28 0.53906
Second quarter... 06/30/2000 07/25/2000 0.28 0.53906
Third quarter...... 09/29/2000 10/31/2000 0.28 0.53906
Fourth quarter.......ccccveeveererencccrennnnns 12/29/2000 01/30/2001 0.28 0.53906
FIrst qUarter .......coccereceneiccnvaeriicnnas 03/26/1999 04/27/1999 0.28 0.53906
Second quarter ... 06/25/1999 07/27/1999 0.28 0.53906
Third quarter...... 09/24/1999 10/26/1999 0.28 0.53906
Fourth quarter...........ccccoccovervnvniinian. 12/31/1999 01/25/2000 0.28 0.53906

Approximately 4.1% and 1.7% of the 2001 and 2000 common and preferred share distributions represented
long-term capital gains, respectively. Approximately 2.5% of the 2001 common and preferred share distributions
represented unrecaptured Section 1250 gains. The remainder of the 2001 and 2000 common and preferred share
distributions was ordinary income. In 1999, 100% of the distributions were ordinary income.
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On March 1, 2002, the Company’s Board of Trustees declared a first quarter distribution of $0.08 per
common share and common unit, $0.53906 per Series A Preferred Share and $0.275 per Class B Preferred Unit to
holders of record on March 29, 2002. The distribution is payable on April 30, 2002.

The Company had no sales of unregistered securities to report for the year ended December 31, 2001.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following tables set forth selected financial and other data for the Company and the IH Lessee. The
following data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated or combined financial statements and notes
thereto and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of the
Company and the TH Lessee included herein.

The selected financial and other data for the Company and the IH Lessee have been derived from the
consolidated or combined financial statements of the Company and the IH Lessee audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants.

Innkeepers USA Trust
Selected Financial Data

(in thousands, except share For the years ended December 31,

and per share data) 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Operating data:
Total revenue $107,565 $125,831 $114,360 $103,767 366,813
Income before minority interest and

other items 31,466 51,446 42,548 42,113 29,213
Minority interest, common (615) (1,525) (1,207) (1,829) (1,879)
Minority interest, preferred (4,433) (4,693) (4,693) (4,693) (4,551)
Gain (loss) on sale of hotels, net (250) (214) - 333 --
Extraordinary loss -- (240) -~ (2,760) --
Net income 26,168 44,774 36,648 33,164 22,783
Basic earnings per share 0.47 1.02 0.78 0.81 0.85
Diluted earnings per share 0.47 1.02 0.78 0.80 0.85
Other data:
Funds from operations (“FFO™) (1) $70,846 $89,644 $79,368 $72,968 $47,518
Denominator for FFO per share (1) 46,538,200 46,693,539 46,638,031 44,273,585 33,203,835
Dividends per common share 0.91 1.12 1.12 112 1.02
Dividends per preferred share 2.16 2.16 2.16 1.50 --
Cash provided by operating

activities 75,028 92,559 79,809 70,498 49,203
Cash used by investing activities (37,308) (26,828) (74,189) (159,263) (246,744)
Cash provided (used) by

financing activities (47,053) (55,725) (3,858) 87,179 161,430

December 31,

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Balanece sheet data:
Investment in hotels, at cost $865,882 $837,472 $831,371 $764,221 $601,508
Total assets 752,920 765,155 766,700 725,114 592,607
Debt 261,116 246,185 243,875 191,183 160,455
Minority interest in Partnership 54,249 58,304 59,457 59,802 74,552
Shareholders’ equity 426,003 440,544 443,457 454,392 342,638

(1) See “Funds From Operations” in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”




IH Lessee
Selected Financial Data

Years Ended December 31,

_(in thousands, except per share data) 2001 2000 199% 1998 1997
Operating Data:
Room revenue $200,017 $222,806 $204,539 $179,366 $117,170
Qther revenue 9,322 10,821 10,541 9,213 7,333
Total revenue 209,339 233,627 215,080 188,579 124,503
Hotel operating expenses 106,273 114,690 107.477 94,370 61,320
103,066 118,937 107,603 94,209 63,183
Lessee overhead 4,736 3,810 3,468 2,364 2,210
Percentage Lease expense 93,942 110,122 99,193 87,735 57,486
Net income (1) $ 4,388 $ 5,005 $ 4,942 $ 4,110 $ 3,487

(1) The TH Lessee has elected status as a Subchapter S corporation for federal income tax purposes and, generally, pays no corporate level tax

on its net income.

Innkeepers USA Trust
Quarterly Results of Operations and Other Data
(unaudited, in thousands except First Second Third Fourth

share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
2001
Operating data (1):
Total revenue $16,676 $18,962 $31,551 $40,376 $107,565
Income (loss) before minority interest (2,623) 2 12,919 21,168 31,466
Net income (loss) (3,507) (989) 11,449 19,215 26,168
Basic earnings (loss) per share (0.18) (0.10) 0.26 0.49 0.47
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.18) 0.10) 0.26 0.45 0.47
Other data:
FFO (2) $20,989 $20,607 $18,233 $11,017 $70,846
Denominator for FFO per share (2) 46,653,959 46,537,993 46,535,623 46,427,055 46,538,200
2000
Operating data (1):
Total revenue $15,871 $19,796 $38,694 $51,470 $125,831
Income (loss) before minority interest (3.372) 1,113 20,030 33,675 51,446
Net income (loss) (4,242) (181) 18,157 31,040 44,774
Basic earnings (loss) per share (0.20) (0.08) 0.46 0.83 1.02
Diluted earnings (loss) per share (0.20) (0.08) 0.43 0.71 1.02
Other data:
FFO (2) $19,201 $23,831 $26,151 $20,461 $89,644
Denominator for FFO per share (2) 46,672,944 46,702,483 46,693,830 46,705,712 46,693,539
1999
Operating data (3):
Total revenue $26,015 $29,710 $31,784 $26,851 $114,360
Income before minority interest 8,484 11,592 13,919 8,553 42,548
Net income 7,106 10,077 12,299 7,166 36,648
Basic earnings per share 0.14 0.22 0.29 0.14 0.78
Diluted earnings per share 0.13 0.22 0.29 0.14 0.78
Other data:
FFO (2) $17,196 $20,972 $23,258 517,942 $79,368
Denominator for FFO per share (2) 46,630,057 46,652,972 46,648,407 46,620,031 46,638,031

(1) The operating data reflect the adoption of Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (“SAB
1017) “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements.” SAB 101 effectively defers recognition of Percentage Rent from the
first and second quarters to the third or fourth quarters. SAB 101 has no impact on the Company’s distribution policy, cash
flow, reported quarterly FFO or the annual recognition of Percentage Lease revenue.

(2) See “Funds From Operations” in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.”

(3) The quarterly information for 1999 is presented without regard to the application of SAB 101.




Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

General

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and related notes of Innkeepers USA Trust and the combined financial statements and related notes of the
TH Lessee beginning on page F-1. The notes contain essential information and the definitions of certain capitalized

terms used herein.

Occupancy, average daily rate (“ADR”) and revenue per available room (“RevPAR”) for 66 of the hotels
are presented in the following table. No assurance can be given that the trends reflected in the following table will
continue or that occupancy, ADR and RevPAR will not decrease due to changes in national or local economic,
hospitality or other industry conditions.

Years ended Percentage
December 31, increase
2001 2000 (decrease)
The Hotels (1)
Occupancy 73.07% 80.23% (8.93)%
ADR $105.09 $107.33 (2.09)%
RevPAR $ 76.78 $ 86.11 (10.83)%
Upscale, extended-stay hotels (2):
Occupancy 75.71% 83.02% (8.80)%
ADR $109.27 $112.61 2.97%
RevPAR S 82.73 $ 9349 (11.51)%
Limited service hotels (3):
Occupancy 64.17% 71.26% (9.95)%
ADR $ 90.70 $ 88.80 2.13%
RevPAR $ 58.20 $ 63.29 (8.03)%
) 66 hotels, excludes one hotel opened on January §, 2001
2) 51 hotels, excludes one hote! opened on January 8, 2001

3) 14 hotels

Innkeepers USA Trust

Critical Accounting Policies

In accordance with recent SEC guidance, we discuss below material accounting policies that the Company
believes are critical to an investor’s understanding of its financial results and condition, and require management to
make complex judgments and/or assessments of risks. Information regarding these and other accounting policies is
included in the notes to the Company’s financial statements.

Allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company has not recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts.
Substantially all of the Company’s receivables at December 31, 2001 was Rent due from the Lessees, which was
fully paid in January 2002. However, the Lessees rely primarily on cash flow from their operation of the hotels to
pay rent, and collection of future receivables from the Lessees cannot be assured.

Insurance. The Company has obtained property and casualty insurance with loss limits and coverages
deemed reasonable by management (and as may be required by lenders and franchisors). There can be no assurance
that the insurance obtained will fully protect the Company against insurable losses, that the Company will not incur
losses from risks that are not insurable or that are not economically insurable or that current coverages will continue
to be available at reasonable rates.
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Long-Lived Assets. Hotel properties are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Useful lives are
based on management’s estimates of the period over which the assets will generate revenue.

The Company reviews its hotel properties for “impairment” whenever events or changes in business
circumstances indicate that the value of the assets on our books may not be fully recoverable. The Company
reviewed each of its hotel properties at December 31, 2001 for impairment and, based on its estimate of each hotel’s
future undiscounted cash flows, determined that no impairment existed at December 31, 2001. However, if the
estimate of the future cash flows were to decrease in future periods, the Company may be required to recognize an
impairment in such period and the impairment may be significant.

The Company has classified one hotel property as “held for sale” at December 31, 2001. Held for sale
properties are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. Based on this criteria, the
Company recognized a loss of $250,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001 on this hotel.

REIT Qualification Tests. The Company is subject to numerous operational and organizational
requirements to maintain its REIT status. Based on tests performed by management for the year ended December
31, 2001, the Company believes that it satisfied the requirements needed to maintain its REIT status. However, the
Company is subject to audit and if the taxing authorities determined that the Company failed one or more of these
tests, the Company could lose its REIT status. If the Company did not qualify as a REIT, its income would become
subject to federal and state income taxes, which would be substantial.

Accrual for Certain Litigation Settlements and Costs. The Company is currently defending itself in
litigation filed by a former officer. The Company has recognized $300,000 and $200,000 in 2001 and 2000,
respectively, in costs related to defending this litigation. We will recognize additional costs related to this litigation
in 2002. The case is currently set for trial in mid-2002. We currently estimate that legal and related costs could
total an additional $200,000 to $500,000 to proceed to and conclude the trial.

The Company believes that the claims are without merit and is aggressively defending against all
allegations. Therefore, it has not recorded any settlement or judgment costs related to this litigation at December 31,
2001. However, if the Company settled or lost the breach of employment contract claim, it would be obligated to
pay up to approximately $1,250,000 in cash, and to vest restricted shares which would result in a non-cash charge of
up to approximately $1,175,000. No amounts are included in these estimates for any of the plaintiff’s other claims.

Results of Operations
The following paragraphs discuss the results of operations for the Company.
Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2001 (“2001 ") to the Year Ended December 31, 2000 (“2000”)

The Company had revenues for 2001 of $107,565,000, consisting of $106,172,000 of Percentage Lease
revenue from the Lessees and $1,393,000 of other revenue, compared with $125,831,000, $124,141,000 and
$1,690,000, respectively, for 2000. The decrease in Percentage Lease revenue of $17,969,000, or 14.5%, is due,
primarily, to the reduction RevPAR at the Hotels of 10.8% in 2001. The lower revenues were attributable to a
sluggish economy during the year and the dramatic falloff in business travel following the September 11 terrorist
attacks. The Company’s eight hotels in Silicon Valley, CA were affected more dramatically than the remainder of
its portfolio. These eight hotels experienced a RevPAR decline of 21.0% in 2001 and represented approximately
24.3% of the Comipany’s Percentage Lease revenue in 2001,

Depreciation, amortization of franchise costs, amortization of loan origination fees, and amortization of
unearned compensation (“Depreciation and Amortization”) were $41,716,000 in the aggregate for 2001 compared
with $40,353,000 for 2000. The increase in Depreciation and Amortization was primarily due to the depreciation on
the Company’s hotel in Tysons Corner, VA (which opened on January 8, 2001) and renovations completed at the
Hotels during 2000. The amortization of certain restricted share awards granted in November 2000 also contributed
to the increase in Depreciation and Amortization.
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Interest expense for 2001 was $18,565,000 compared with $18,190,000 for 2000. This increase is due
primarily to an increase in weighted average borrowings of approximately $8,650,000, which was partially offset by
decreases in the interest rates on the Company’s variable rate debt.

Real estate and personal property taxes and property insurance were $10,966,000 for 2001 compared with
$11,108,000 for 2000. The decrease was due primarily to a reduction in real estate tax accruals for certain hotels
and the receipt of refunds of prior year real estate taxes which resulted from the successful appeal of certain hotels’
assessed values, which was partially offset by the real estate and personal property taxes and property insurance on
the Company’s hotel in Tysons Corner, VA. The Company has renewed its property and other insurance coverages
for the policy year ending October 31, 2002. The new property insurance policies reduced the limits of certain
coverages, and the premiums increased over 130% from approximately $927,000 for the 2001 policy year to
$2,201,000 for the 2002 policy year.

General and administrative expenses increased as a percentage of total revenue to 3.3% from 3.1% in 2000.
However, general and administrative expenses actually decreased by $279,000 due primarily to no 2001
performance bonuses being paid to the Company’s executive management team.

Other charges were $782,000 in 2001 and $400,000 in 2000. In 2001 and 2000, the Company accrued
$300,000 and $200,000, respectively, for legal costs related to the litigation with the Company’s former Chief
Operating Officer. In 2001 and 2000, the Company accrued $310,000 and $200,000, respectively, in costs for
advisory services related to the Company’s consideration of its alternatives under the REIT Modernization Act.
Also in 2001, the Company expensed approximately $172,000 of costs associated with terminating its Percentage
Lease with the Summerfield Lessee on its Summerfield Suites hotel located in West Hollywood, CA, which is now
leased to the IH Lessee. This hotel is currently under contract to be sold to an unaffiliated third party and closing of
the sale is anticipated in the second quarter of 2002.

Net income applicable to common shareholders decreased to $16,185,000, or $0.47 per diluted share, in
2001 from $34,791,000 or $1.02 per diluted share, in 2000 as a result of the items discussed above. The 2000
results include an extraordinary loss of $240,000 relating to the extinguishment of the Company’s previous line of
credit.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2000 (“2000”) to the Year Ended December 31, 1999 (“1999”)

The Company had revenues for 2000 of $125,831,000, consisting of $124,141,000 of Percentage Lease
revenue from the Lessees and $1,690,000 of other revenue, compared with $114,360,000, $112,839,000 and
$1,521,000, respectively, for 1999. The increase in Percentage Lease revenue was due, primarily, to RevPAR
growth at the Hotels of 7.42% in 2000.

Depreciation and Amortization was $40,353,000 in the aggregate for 2000 compared with $39,216,000 for
1999. The increase in Depreciation and Amortization was primarily due to the depreciation of renovations
completed at the Hotels.

Interest expense for 2000 was $18,190,000 compared with $16,818,000 for 1999. This increase is due
primarily to additional borrowings for a hotel acquisition late in the first quarter of 1999 and increases in the
variable interest rates on the Line of Credit and certain other debt for 2000.

Real estate and personal property taxes and property insurance were $11,108,000 for 2000 compared with
$11,728,000 for 1999. The decrease was primarily due to the receipt of refunds of prior years real estate taxes
which resulted from the successful appeal of certain Texas hotels’ assessed values and changes in the estimate of
accruals held for taxes in certain states which bill their property taxes in arrears.

General and administrative expenses remained relatively constant at approximately 3% of total revenue in
2000.
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Net income applicable to common shareholders increased to $34,791,000, or $1.02 per diluted share, in
2000 from $26,665,000 or $0.78 per diluted share, in 1999 as a result of the items discussed above. The 2000
results include an extraordinary loss of $240,000 relating to the extinguishment of the Company’s previous line of
credit and a $214,000 loss on the sale of a hotel.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company’s principal source of liquidity is rent payments from the Lessees under the Percentage
Leases, and the Company is dependent on the Lessees to make such payments to provide cash for debt service,
distributions, capital expenditures at its Hotels, and working capital. The Company does not expect that its cash
provided by operating activities will be adequate to meet all of its liquidity needs. The Company currently expects
to fund any liquidity shortfall and its external growth objectives primarily by borrowing on its Line of Credit or
other facilities, exchanging equity for hotel properties or possibly accessing the capital markets if market conditions
permit.

Cash Flow Analysis

Cash and cash equivalents (including restricted cash and cash equivalents) at December 31, 2001 and 2000
were $24,215,000 and $33,077,000, including approximately $8,838,000 and $9,175,000, respectively, which the
Company is required, under the Percentage Leases, to make available to the Lessees for the replacement and
refurbishment of furniture and equipment and certain other capital expenditures. Additionally, cash and cash
equivalents include approximately $10,300,000 and $9,492,000 at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, that is
held in escrow to pay for insurance, taxes, and additional capital expenditures for certain Hotels. The decrease in
cash balances is due primarily to the completion of certain renovation projects and the decrease in cash flow
attributable to the decrease in Percentage Lease revenue in 2001.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 was
$75,028,000 and $92,559,000, respectively. The $17,531,000 decrease is primarily due to the $18,606,000
reduction in net income in 2001 from 2000.

Net cash used in investing activities was $37,308,000 for the year December 31, 2001. This was comprised
primarily of (a) renovations at certain hotels of approximately $26,333,000, (b) development costs on the
Company’s project in Tyson’s Corner, VA of approximately $1,496,000, (¢) costs on the Company’s hotel
development in Saddle River, NJ of approximately $8,998,000 and (d) net deposits in resiricted cash accounts of
$471,000.

Net cash used in investing activities was $26,828,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000. This was
comprised primarily of (a) renovations at certain hotels of approximately $18,900,000; (b) development costs on the
Company’s Residence Inn by Marriott hotel in Tysons Corner, VA of approximately $7,700,000; and (c) net
deposits into the restricted cash accounts of approximately $6,395,000; partially offset by the net proceeds from the
sale of the Comfort Inn in Allentown, PA for approximately $6,173,000.

Net cash used by financing activities was $47,053,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001, consisting
primarily of distributions paid of approximately $57,129,000, the redemption of 178,860 Class B Preferred Units
and 152,574 Common Units in the Partnership for approximately $3,893,000, the repayment of a mortgage that
matured of approximately $3,027,000, fees incurred with the extension of the maturity date of the Line of Credit of
approximately $639,000 and principal payments on amortizing debt of approximately $3,042,000, which was
partially offset by net borrowings under the Line of Credit of approximately $21,000,000.

Net cash used by financing activities was $55,725,000 for the year ended December 31, 2000, consisting
primarily of distributions paid of approximately $55,237,000, net payments on the Line of Credit of $45,000,000,
principal payments on amortizing debt of approximately $2,700,000, loan costs incurred of approximately
$1,790,000 and the redemption of Common Units of approximately $985,000, which activities were partially offset
by borrowings under the Fifth Term Loan of $50,000,000.
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Distributions/Dividends

The Company has paid regular distributions on its common shares and Common Units, and the quarterly
distribution for the first three quarters of 2001 was $0.30 per share or unit. The Company paid a distribution on its
common shares and Common Units for the fourth quarter of 2001 in the amount of $0.01 per share. The timing and
amount of any future dividends will be determined by the Company’s Board of Trustees based on factors it deems
relevant. Under federal income tax law provisions applicable to REITs, the Company is required to distribute at
least 90% of its taxable income to maintain its REIT status. The Company’s current intention is to distribute
approximately 100% of its taxable income in 2002. The Company believes it would pay between $0.50 and $0.60
per common share in 2002 if the RevPAR for its Hotels declines 5% in 2002 from 2001 levels. However, if the
Company’s 2002 RevPAR assumptions prove too optimistic or its expense assumptions are too low, it would reduce
the common share dividend accordingly. Quarterly preferred distributions of between $0.275 and $0.28875 are
payable on each Class B Preferred Unit. Each Class B Preferred Unit may be converted into one Common Unit at
the election of the holder. The holders of the Common Units and Class B Preferred Units may redeem each of their
units for cash equal to the then-trading value of a common share or, at the election of Innkeepers, one common
share.

The Company has issued an aggregate of 4,630,000 8.625% Series A cumulative convertible preferred
shares of beneficial interest (the “Series A Preferred Shares™). Each Series A Preferred Share is convertible into
1.4811 common shares at any time. The Series A Preferred Shares may be redeemed by the Company after May 18,
2003 and have no stated maturity or sinking fund requirements. Each Series A Preferred Share has a liquidation
preference of $25 per share and is entitled to annual dividends equal to the greater of (i) $2.15624 per share
($0.53906 per share payable quarterly) or (ii) the cash dividend paid or payable on the number of common shares
into which the Series A Preferred Share is convertible.

Financing

In making future investments in hotel properties, the Company may incur additional indebtedness. The
Company may also incur indebtedness to meet distribution requirements imposed on a REIT under the Intemal
Revenue Code, to fund its renovation and upgrade program or to fund any other liquidity needs to the extent that
working capital and cash flow from the Company’s operations are insufficient to fund such needs. The Company’s
Declaration of Trust limits aggregate indebtedness to 50% of the Company’s investment in hotel properties, at cost,
after giving effect to the Company’s use of proceeds from any indebtedness. The Company has bank funding
commitments available under the Line of Credit of approximately $104,000,000 at December 31, 2001. However,
the actual amount that can be borrowed is subject to borrowing base availability as described in the loan agreement.
At December 31, 2001, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants contained in its various loan
agreements. If the trends in the current operating environment persist, however, the borrowing capacity under the
Line of Credit will decrease by a significant amount and the Company will fail to comply with one or more financial
covenants of the Line of Credit. The Company is currently negotiating an amendment to the Line of Credit which
will allow the Company to comply with its financial covenants in 2002 and restore some of its anticipated lost
borrowing capacity. This amendment is expected to re-set certain financial covenant thresholds for 2002 to levels
that contemplate that the current difficult operating environment persists throughout the year. If the Company fails
to conclude such amendment, or if the operating environment in 2002 worsens substantially from the current trends
and the Company violates the amended covenants, the Company may have to locate replacement financing for
borrowings outstanding under the Line of Credit, locate financing for its hotel development in Saddle River, NJ, or
significantly reduce its other planned capital expenditures.




The following table summarizes certain information concerning the Company’s debt at December 31,
2001and 2000:

2001 2000

Investment in hotels, at cost $865,882,000  $837,472,000
Debt 261,116,000 246,185,000
Percentage of debt to investment in hotels, at cost 30.2% 29.4%
Percentage of fixed rate debt to total debt 88.1% 95.9%
Weighted average implied interest rates on:

Fixed rate debt 7.54% 7.51%

Variable rate debt 3.08% 5.00%

Total debt 7.01% 7.41%
Number of hotels properties:

Collateralized 39 40

Unencumbered 28 27
Debt Service Coverage Ratios

Interest coverage ratio (EBITDA divided by interest

expense) 4.9x 6.0x

Fixed charge coverage ratio (EBITDA divided by fixed

charges) 2.3x 2.7x

Total debt to EBITDA 2.8x 2.2x

The Company includes the following in fixed charges for purposes of calculating the fixed charge coverage
ratio: interest expense, dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares, principal amortization and a furniture, fixtures
and equipment replacement reserve calculated at 4% of room revenue at the Hotels.

The Line of Credit bears interest based on the LIBOR rate and increases or decreases in the LIBOR rate
will increase or decrease the Company’s cost of borrowings outstanding under the Line of Credit. Based on the
borrowings outstanding under the Line of Credit at December 31, 2001 of $21,000,000, a 100 basis point increase in
the LIBOR rate would increase annual interest charges by $210,000.

On December 28, 2000, the Company closed on a collateralized term loan (the “Fifth Term Loan™). The
Fifth Term Loan has a principal amount of $50,000,000 and bears interest at a fixed rate of 7.75%. Interest only
payments are due for the first four years and principal amortization begins in the fifth year calculated over a 25-year
period. The Fifth Term Loan is collateralized by six hotels. The net proceeds of the Fifth Term Loan were used to
reduce borrowings outstanding under the Line of Credit.

In the future, the Company may seek to increase or decrease the amount of its credit facilities, negotiate
additional credit facilities, or issue corporate debt instruments, all in compliance with the Company’s debt
limitation. Any debt incurred or issued by the Company may be secured or unsecured, short-term or long-term, bear
a fixed or variable interest rate and may be subject to such other terms as management or the Board of Trustees of
the Company deems prudent. The Company has no interest rate hedging instrument exposure or forward equity
commitments.

The Company has a shelf registration statement for $250,000,000 of common shares, preferred shares or
warrants to purchase shares of the Company. The shelf registration statement was declared effective by the
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 11, 1997. The terms and conditions of the securities issued
thereunder are determined by the Company based on market conditions at the time of issuance. Approximately
$106,000,000 remains available for issuance under the shelf registration statement.

Capital Expenditures
The Percentage Leases generally require the Company to make available to the Lessees an amount equal to

4% of room revenues from the Hotels, on a monthly basis, for the periodic replacement or refurbishment of furniture
and equipment and certain other capital expenditures at the Hotels. Each of the Company’s term loans require that
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the Company make available for such purposes, at the Hotels collateralizing those loans, amounts up to 5% of gross
revenues from such Hotels. The Company intends to cause the expenditure of amounts in excess of such obligated
amounts, if necessary, to comply with the reasonable requirements of any franchise agreement and otherwise to the
extent that the Company deems such expenditures to be in the best interests of the Company. See also “Business—
General—Internal Growth Strategy—Capital Improvements, Renovations and Refurbishment.”

Management believes that the amounts required to be made available by the Company under the
Percentage Leases will be sufficient to meet most of the routine expenditures for furniture, fixtures and equipment at
the Hotels. However, in the past, the Company has spent more on capital expenditures than the Percentage Leases
require. Management believed these additional expenditures were necessary to meet competitive pressures from
other hotels, many of which are newly constructed. In many cases, the expenditures were also required by the
franchisors. Management believes that for the foreseeable future the Company will continue to spend more on
capital expenditures than it is required to make available to the Lessees under the Percentage Leases or loan
agreements. The extent to which the actual expenditures exceed the amounts required to be made available will
vary from year to year, based on a number of factors. Those factors include for any given year market and
franchisor requirements, the point in the normal recurring upgrade cycle the hotels are at in that year, and the
revenue of the hotels for that year. In 2002, management expects to spend between $20 million and $23 million on
capital expenditures. To the extent that the Company spends more on capital expenditures than is available from the
Company’s operations, the Company intends to borrow under the Line of Credit.

Related Party Transactions

The Company has entered into a number of transactions and arrangements that may involve conflicts of
interest. For a description of the transactions and arrangements, please see “Risk Factors-Conflicts of Interest and
Related Party Transactions” beginning on page R-2.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table summarizes the Company’s obligations and commitments to make future payments
under contracts, such as debt and lease agreements, and under contingent commitments.

Payments due by period (080’s)

Obligation 2002 2003 2004 Thereafter Total

Debt $ 3,467 $ 4,562 $25,890 $227,197 $261,116
Ground leases (1) 498 498 498 20,266 21,760
Construction contracts (2} 19,000 -- -- -- 19,000

Guarantee of IH Lessee obligations (3)

$ 22,965 $ 5,060 $ 26,388 $ 247,463 $ 301,876

(1) The Company has two fifty-year term ground leases expiring July 2034 and May 2035, respectively, and a 98-
year term ground lease expiring October 2084, on the land underlying three of its hotel properties. Minimum
annual rent payable under these leases is approximately $498,000 in the aggregate, subject to increase based on
increases in the consumer price index.

(2) The Company is developing a 174-room Residence Inn by Marriott hotel in Saddle River, NJ. The Company
has executed a contract for the construction of this hotel. Construction commenced in June 2001 and the total
cost of this project is currently estimated to be approximately $25 million. The Company anticipates that it will
incur approximately $16 million in costs for completing this development in 2002. The Company also has
executed approximately $3 million in certain other construction contracts and purchase orders for work to be
completed in the first half of 2002.

(3) The Company has guaranteed certain of the IH Lessee’s obligations under the franchise licenses and Marriott
Management Agreements, generally in exchange for certain rights to substitute replacement lessees if the
Company terminates the related Percentage Lease. We cannot predict whether, when or to what extent the
Company may incur liability under these guarantees.
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Seasonality of Hotel Business

The hotel industry is seasonal in nature. Historically, the Hotels’ operations have generally reflected higher
occupancy rates and ADR during the second and third quarters. To the extent that cash flow from the Percentage
Leases for a quarter is insufficient to fund all of the distributions for such quarter due to seasonal and other factors,
the Company may maintain the annual distribution rate by funding quarterly distributions with available cash or
borrowings under the Line of Credit.

Inflation

Operators of hotels, including the Lessees and any third-party managers retained by the Lessees, generally
possess the ability to adjust room rates quickly. However, competitive pressures have limited and may in the future
limit the ability of the Lessees and any third-party managers retained by the Lessees to raise room rates in response
to inflation. Inflation has been modest in the past few years, however, there can be no assurance that these modest
inflation levels will not increase in future years.

Funds From Operations

Funds From Operations (“FFQO™) is a widely used performance measure for an equity REIT. FFQ, as
defined by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”), is income (loss) before minority
interest (determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles), excluding gains (losses) from
debt restructuring and sales of property and extraordinary items, plus real estate related depreciation and
amortization and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. FFO is presented to assist
investors in analyzing the performance of the Company. The Company’s method of calculating FFO may be
different from methods used by other REITs and, accordingly, may not be comparable to such other REITs. FFO (i)
does not represent cash flows from operating activities as defined by generally accepted accounting principles, (ii) is
not indicative of cash available to fund all cash flow and liquidity needs, including its ability to make distributions,
and (iii) should not be considered as an alternative to net income (as determined in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles) for purposes of evaluating the Company’s operating performance.

The following presents the Company’s calculations of FFO and the denominator for FFO per share for the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 (in thousands, except share data):

2001 2000 1999

Net income applicable to

common shareholders $ 16,185 $ 34,791 $ 26,665
Minority interest, common 615 1,525 1,207
Minority interest, preferred 4,433 4,693 4,693
Loss on sale of hotels, net 250 214 -
Extraordinary loss - 240 -
Depreciation 39,380 38,198 36,820
Preferred share dividends 9,983 9,983 9,983
FFO $ 70,846 $§ 89,644 $ 79,368
Denominator for diluted

earnings per share 34,461,134 34,251,885 34,149,108
Weighted average:

Common Units 1,320,403 1,520,832 1,568,101

Preferred Units 3,899,170 4,063,329 4,063,329

Convertible

preferred shares 6,857,493 6,857,493 6,857,493

Denominator for FFQ

per share 46,538,200 46,693,539 46,638,031
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) approved Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141, “Business Combinations.” SFAS 141 requires that the purchase method
of accounting be used for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. We have used the purchase
method accounting for all of our hotel acquisitions.

In June 2001, the FASB approved SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 142
will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001 and will require (1) intangible assets to be
reclassified into goodwill, (2) goodwill amortization to cease, and (3) the testing of goodwill for impairment at
certain intervals. We do not currently have any goodwill recorded on our books and do not anticipate having any in
the near future.

In June 2001, the FASB approved SFAS No. 143 “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS
No. 143 requires the fair value for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred.
The costs are capitalized as a part of the carrying amount of the related asset. This Statement is effective for
financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. We do not believe that we have any “asset
retirement obligations™ at December 31, 2001.

In August 2001, the FASB approved SFAS No. 144 “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets.” This Statement supersedes previously issued guidance for impairment and disposal of a segment of a
business. SFAS No. 144 requires an impairment loss to be recognized only if the carrying amount of a long-lived
asset is not recoverable from its undiscounted cash flows and to be measured as the difference between the carrying
amount and fair value of the asset. In addition, a long-lived asset classified as held for sale is to be carried at the
lower of its carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell and depreciation would cease. Discontinued operations
are no longer measured on a net realizable value basis, and future operating losses are no longer recognized before
they occur.

IH Lessee
Critical Accounting Policies

In accordance with recent SEC guidance, the TH Lessee’s material accounting policies that it believes are
critical to an investor’s understanding of the IH Lessee’s financial results and condition, and require the IH Lessee’s
management to make complex judgments and/or assessments of risks, are discussed below. Information regarding
these and other accounting policies is included in the notes to the [H Lessee’s financial statements.

Allowance for doubtful accounts. The TH Lessee has recorded an allowance for accounts receivable that
may not be collectible. The IH Lessee has based the allowance on its prior experience with its customers and
industry norms. While the TH Lessee believes that it has considered all factors relevant to estimating its allowance,
the IH Lessee’s estimate could be incorrect and the IH Lessee would expense any receivables that are not collectible
in excess of the allowance in the period in which such determination is made. The IH Lessee has had less than
$200,000 of bad debts in each of the past three years.

Insurance. The IH Lessee has obtained liability insurance with loss limits and coverages deemed
reasonable by the IH Lessee’s management (and as may be required by lenders and franchisors). There can be no
assurance that the insurance obtained will fully protect the TH Lessee against insurable losses, that the ITH Lessee
will not incur losses from risks that are not insurable or that are not economically insurable or that current coverages
will continue to be available at reasonable rates.

Marketable Securities. The IH Lessee classifies its investment in marketable securities as “available for
sale” and, therefore, carries such investment at market value. The market value of such securities is based on the
New York Stock Exchange quoted market prices for such securities. Any future decreases in the value of the
securities could adversely effect shareholder’s equity of the ITH Lessee.
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Accrual for Certain Litigation Settlements and Costs. The TH Lessee is currently defending itself in
litigation filed by former officers. The IH Lessee has recognized $45,000 and $35,000 in 2001 and 2000,
respectively, in costs related to defending this litigation. The TH Lessee will recognize additional costs related to
this litigation in 2002. The cases are currently set for trial or arbitration in mid-2002. The IH Lessee’s management
currently estimates that legal and related expenses could total an additional $50,000 to $100,000 to proceed to and
conclude the trial and arbitration.

The IH Lessee believes that the claims are without merit and is aggressively defending against all
allegations. Therefore, the TH Lessee has not recorded any settlement or judgment costs related to this litigation at
December 31, 2001. However, if the IH Lessee settled or lost the breach of employment contract claims, the IH
Lessee could be obligated to pay up to approximately $1,250,000 in cash. This estimate includes amounts relating
only to the plaintiffs’ breach of contract claims.

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2001 (“2001”) to the Year Ended December 31, 2000 (“2000")

The TH Lessee had total revenue for 2001 of $209,339,000, consisting of $200,017,000 of room revenue
and $9,322,000 of other revenue. Room revenue decreased by $22,789,000, or 10.2%, from $222,806,000 in 2000.
This decrease was primarily due to decreases in RevPAR at the TH Lessee-managed hotels of 8.62% and at the
Marriott-managed hotels of 14.46%. The lower revenues were attributable to a sluggish economy during the year
and the dramatic falloff in business travel following the September 11 terrorist attacks.

Hotel operating expenses decreased by $8,417,000, or 7.3%, to $106,273,000 in 2001 from $114,690,000
in 2000. Hotel operating expenses actually increased when expressed as a percentage of total revenue, from 49.1%
in 2000 to 50.8% in 2001, as revenues fell more than operating expenses. Percentage Lease payments decreased by
$16,180,000, or 14.7%, to $93,942,000 in 2001 from $110,122,000 in 2000. The decrease in Percentage Lease
payments was primarily due to the decrease in room revenue at the hotels resulting in lower percentage rent payable
to the Company. Lessee overhead increased to $4,736,000 in 2001 from $3,810,000 in 2000. The increase in the IH
Lessee’s overhead is attributable to lower interest income on its temporary cash investments, the decrease in the
Company’s distribution on the common shares held by the IH Lessee and additional staffing costs related to the ten
hotels the IH Lessee began managing in late 2000 and early 2001. As a result of these items, net income for 2001
was $4,388,000, which was a decrease of $617,000, or 12.3%, from $5,005,000 for 2000.

Departmental profit (as reflected on the IH Lessee’s combined statement of operations) as a percentage of
total revenue was 79.6% in 2001 and 79.9% in 2000. Net income as a percentage of total revenue was 2.1% in 2001
and 2000.

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2000 (“2000”) to the Year Ended December 31, 1999 (“1999")

The IH Lessee had total revenue for 2000 of $233,627,000, consisting of $222,806,000 of room revenue
and $10,821,000 of other revenue. Room revenue increased by $18,267,000, or 8.9% from $204,539,000 for 1999.
This increase was primarily due to increases in RevPAR at the IH Lessee-managed hotels of 5.86% and at the
Marriott-managed hotels of 9.50%.

Percentage Lease payments and hotel operating expenses for 2000 were $110,122,000 and $114,690,000,
respectively. Percentage Lease payments and hotel operating expenses increased by $10,929,000, or 11.0%, and
$7,213,000, or 6.7%, respectively, from $99,193,000 and $107,477,000 for 1999, respectively. The increase in
Percentage Lease payments was primarily due to the increase in room revenue at the hotels, and hotel operating
expenses increased in proportion to the increase in revenues at the hotels. Net income for 2000 was $5,005,000,
which was an increase of $63,000, or 1.3%, from $4,942,000 for 1999.

Departmental profit (as reflected on the TH Lessee’s combined statement of operations) as a percentage of
total revenue was 79.9% in 2000 and 79.2% in 1999. Net income as a percentage of total revenue decreased tc 2.1%
in 2000 from 2.3% in 1999.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The IH Lessee’s principal source of revenue is the revenue derived from the hotels it operates under leases
from the Company. The IH Lessee is dependent on this revenue to provide cash for the payment of its operating
expenses, insurance, overhead and Rent. The IH Lessee has nominal net worth and is dependent upon the cash flow
from operating activities to meet substantially all of its liquidity needs, including working capital and distributions
to its sharecholders. The IH Lessee believes that its cash flow from the operation of the Hotels will be sufficient to
meet its obligations under the Percentage Leases. However, the TH Lessee may be required to borrow to meet its
other operating costs (and any other liquidity needs) in the first and second quarter of 2002. The IH Lessee
currently anticipates that for the full year 2002, it will generate net income of approximately $2,400,000 based on
estimated RevPAR declines of 2.5% at the IH Lessee-managed hotels and 6.5% at the Marriott-managed hotels and
certain estimates of expenses. [fthe RevPAR assumptions prove too optimistic or the expense assumptions too low,
the IH Lessee net income would be adversely affected.

Net cash flow from operating activities was $2,784,000 and $3,512,000 in 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Net cash flow used in investing activities was $239,000 and $6,000 in 2001 and 2000. Net cash flow used in
financing activities was $3,458,000 and $5,221,000 in 2001 and 2000, respectively, which consisted primarily of
distributions paid to its shareholders.

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company’s primary market risk exposure is to changes in interest rates on its Line of Credit and other
debt. At December 31, 2001, the Company had total outstanding indebtedness of approximately $261,116,000. The
Company’s interest rate risk objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate fluctuations on earnings and cash
flows and to lower its overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, the Company manages its exposure to
fluctuations in market interest rates for its borrowings through the use of fixed rate debt instruments to the extent
that reasonably favorable rates are obtainable with such arrangements. The Company may enter into derivative
financial instruments such as interest rate swaps, caps and treasury locks to mitigate its interest rate risk on a related
financial instrument or to effectively lock the interest rate on a portion of its variable rate debt. Currently, the
Company has no derivative financial instruments. The Company does not enter into derivative or interest rate
transactions for speculative purposes. Approximately 88.1% of the Company’s outstanding debt was subject to
fixed rates with a weighted average implied interest rate of 7.54% at December 31, 2001. The Company regularly
reviews interest rate exposure on its outstanding borrowings in an effort to minimize the risk of interest rate
fluctuations.

The following table provides information about the Company’s financial instruments that are sensitive to
changes in interest rates. For debt obligations outstanding at December 31, 2001, the table presents principal
repayments and related weighted average interest rates by expected maturity dates (in thousands):

Fair
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Thereafter Total Value
Debt:
Fixed Rate $ 3,467 $ 4,562 $ 4,890 $ 5,891 $ 6,408 $204,898 $230,116 $230,116
Average Interest Rate 7.65% 7.56% 7.57% 7.59% 7.59% 7.54% 7.54% -
Variable Rate - - $21,000 - - $ 10,000 $ 31,000 $ 31,000
Average Interest Rate - - 3.74% - - 1.70% 3.08% -

The table incorporates only those exposures that existed as of December 31, 2001 and does not consider
exposures or positions which could arise after that date. As a result, the Company’s ultimate realized gain or loss
with respect to interest rate fluctuations will depend on the exposures that arise during the future period, prevailing
interest rates, and the Company’s hedging strategies at that time. There is inherent rollover risk for borrowings as
they mature and are renewed at current market rates. The extent of this risk is not quantifiable or predictable
because of the variability of future interest rates and the Company’s financing requirements.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this item is included herein and begins on page F-1.
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(a)

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants en Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
PART IIT
Ttem 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registramt

Incorporated herein by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 7,
2002.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Incorporated herein by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 7,
2002.

Ttem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

Incorporated herein by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 7,
2002.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Incorporated herein by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 7,
2002.

PART IV
Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statements, Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

Financial Statements

Innkeepers USA Trust

Report of INdependent ACCOUNTAIES .....c.ceviiiererreireteeereteeeesressaeeeesre et besrrrebeseee e nsesreemsesaaassesernseancs F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2001 and 2000 ..........oooiiiiiiriiiicee e F-3
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended

December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 ... .ottt sttt ae e e e e r e F-4
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended

December 31, 2001, 2000 @nd 1999 ..o iieaiie i sceearee st seseesensesraessseseseeseaessseessasssasssssansassassnseassas F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended

December 31, 2001, 2000 @nd 1999.... .o se et et r et nneaas F-6
Notes to Consolidated FInancial Statements.........coovcciivoieieeiiiiieeieeireseeseia sttt e s sie e e eraesseecesrrans F-7

Innkeepers Hospitality

Report of Independent ACCOUNTANES ......ccvoeirieiiiiiec et et bbbt b ebene F-17
Combined Balance Sheets at December 31, 2001 and 2000..........coveeveviveeniieiiene e F-18
Combined Statements of Income for the years ended

December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.....ou ittt st F-19
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Combined Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended

December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.......cciiiiiee ettt ere e et sttt ae e F-20

Combined Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended

December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999........cooiiii ittt e e st etaa e erae e F-21
“““ Notes to Combined Financial Statements ........cccoivieveiieiieiorecceiisiecnseieesee e s ecereseseene e svessesesessesenn B=22

Financial Statement Schedule of Innkeepers USA Trust

Report of Independent ACCOUNTANTS .........cceriiriiiriereriie ettt e sneens F-26
Schedule 3 - Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation at December 31, 2001 .......ccocvrivrvieneecen, F-27

All other schedules are omitted since the required information is not present or is not present in amounts sufficient
to require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto.

(b) Reperts on Form 8-K

No reports on Form 8-K were filed by the Company in the period from September 1, 2001 to December 31,
2001.

(¢)  Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits
3.1 Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Registrant (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362 and incorporated
herein by reference).
3.2 Bylaws of the Registrant (previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362 and incorporated herein by reference).
4.1 Form of Common Share Certificate (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362 and incorporated herein by reference).
10.1 Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Innkeepers USA Limited
j Partnership (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1-A to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
- for the year ended December 31, 1996).
10.2 Form of Percentage Lease (previously filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Registration
- Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362 and incorporated herein by reference).
10.3 Form of Right of First Refusal and Option to Purchase (previously filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the

Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-81362 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.4 Innkeepers USA Trust 1994 Share Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001).

10.5 Innkeepers USA Trust Non-Employee Trustees” Share Option Plan (previously filed as Exhibit
10.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 13, 1997).
10.6(a) Employment Agreement of Jeffrey H. Fisher (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(a) to the Company’s
‘ Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001).
10.6(b) Employment Agreement of David Bulger (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(b) to the Company’s
3 Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001).
10.6(c) Employment Agreement of Gregory M. Fay (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(c) to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001).
10.6(d) Employment Agreement of Mark A. Murphy (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6(d) to the

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 9, 2001).
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10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

Form of Exclusive Hotel Development Agreement and Covenant Not to Compete (previously filed
as Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-
81362 and incorporated herein by reference).

Percentage Lease Agreement between Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership and Innkeepers
Hospitality, Inc. for the Hampton Inn - West Palm Beach, Florida (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4
to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-95622 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Consolidated Percentage Lease Agreement between Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership and
Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. for certain hotels (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
registration statement on Form S-11, Registration No. 33-95622 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Credit Agreement, dated as of May 10, 2000, among Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA
Limited Partnership, Bank of America, N.A., Bank One, N.A., First Union National Bank and
PNC National Association and the lenders named therein (previously filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001).

Seven Contribution Agreements, each dated as of September 16, 1996, between various
partnerships and Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership for the seven DeBoer Hotels (previously
filed as Exhibits 2.1 - 2.7 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on November 22, 1996 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Contribution Agreement between a partnership subsidiary of Innkeepers USA Trust and a
Summerfield Partnership (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on
July 18, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of percentage lease agreement for Summerfield acquisition hotels (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18, 1997 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Agreement on Franchise-Related Matters between the Innkeepers acquisition partnerships,
Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership and Summerfield Suites Management Company, L.P., dated
as of June 20, 1997 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18,
1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

Lease Master Agreement between the Innkeepers acquisition partnerships, Innkeepers USA
Limited Partnership and Summerfield Suites Lease Company, L.P., dated as of June 20, 1997
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18, 1997 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Voting Agreement among Jeffrey H. Fisher, Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA Limited
Partnership, the Summerfield Contributing Partnerships, and the beneficial holders of Units issued
to the Summerfield Group, dated June 20, 1997 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
Form 8-K filed on July 18, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

Redemption and Registration Rights Agreement between Innkeepers USA Trust, Innkeepers USA
Limited Partnership, the Summerfield Contributing Partnerships and the beneficial holders of
Units issued to the Summerfield Group, dated as of June 20, 1997 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.6
to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on July 18, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference).

Loan agreement, dated as of September 24, 1999, among Bank of America, N.A., as lender, and
Innkeepers R1 Northwest, L.P. and Innkeepers Summerfield General, L.P. (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001).

Promissory Note, dated September 24, 1999, from Innkeepers R1 Northwest, L.P. and Innkeepers
Summerfield General, L.P. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed March 9, 2001).

Promissory Note, dated December 28, 2000, from Innkeepers Residence Shelton, L.P., Innkeepers
Residence Atlanta-Downtown, L.P., Innkeepers Residence Arlington (TX), L.P., Innkeepers
Residence Addison (TX), L.P., and Innkeepers RI Altamonte, L.P. to First Union National Bank
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(d)

(previously filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9,

2001).

10.21 Form of Deed of Trust for the loan evidenced by the Promissory Note filed as Exhibit 10.20
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 9,
2001).

21.1 List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule 3 - Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation at December 31, 2001.
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‘ SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INNKEEPERS USA TRUST

March 18, 2002 /s/ Jeffrey H. Fisher
Chairman of the Board and President

March 18, 2002 /s/ David Bulger
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

March 18, 2002 /s/ Gregory M. Fay
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
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/s/ Joel Zemans

Joel Zemans

Chief Executive Officer, President and
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Report of Independent Accountants

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders of
Innkeepers USA Trust

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
income, of shareholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Innkeepers USA Trust at December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 22, 2002, except for Note 12, as to
which the date is March 1, 2002
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Innkeepers USA Trust
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2001 and 2000

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

2001 2000
ASSETS
Investment in hotel properties:
Land and improvements $ 100,076 $ 96,204
Buildings and improvements 652,899 631,042
Furniture and equipment 103,668 97,949
Renovations in process 241 171
Hotels under development 8,998 12,106
865,882 837,472
Accumulated depreciation (154,574) (123,563)
Net investment in hotel properties 711,308 713,909
Cash and cash equivalents 5,077 14,410
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19,138 18,667
Due from Lessees 10,264 12,190
Deferred expenses, net 4,546 4,537
Other assets 2,587 1,442
Total assets $752,920 $765,155
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Debt $261,116 $246,185
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 8,376 7,061
Distributions payable 3,176 13,061
Minority interest in Partnership 54,249 58,304
Total liabilities 326,917 324611
Commitments (note 9)
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred shares, $0.01 par value, 20,000,000 shares
authorized, 4,630,000 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2001 and 2000 115,750 115,750
Common shares, $0.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares
authorized, 34,774,156 and 34,758,786 issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively 348 348
Additional paid-in capital 367,596 368,025
Unearned compensation (3,482) (4,821)
Distributions in excess of net earnings (54,209) (38,758)
Total shareholders’ equity 426,003 440,544
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $752,920 $765,155

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Innkeepers USA Trust
Consolidated Statements of Income
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999

(in thousands, except per share data)

j 2001 2000 1999
- Revenue:
Percentage Lease revenue $106,172 $124,141 $112,839
‘ Other revenue 1,393 1,690 1,521
Total revenue 107,565 125,831 114,360
Expenses:
Depreciation 39,380 38,198 36,820
Amortization of franchise costs 59 65 71
Ground rent 485 470 460
Interest expense 18,565 18,190 16,818
Amortization of loan origination fees 928 909 974
Real estate and personal property taxes and property insurance 10,966 11,108 11,728
General and administrative (excluding amortization of
unearned compensation) 3,585 3,864 3,590
Other charges 782 400 -
Amortization of unearned compensation 1,349 1,181 1,351
Total expenses 76,099 74,385 71,812
Income before minority interest and other items 31,466 51,446 42,548
Minority interest, common (615) (1,525) (1,207)
Minority interest, preferred (4,433) (4,693) (4,693)
Loss on sale of hotels, net (250) (214) --
Extraordinary loss -- (240) --
Net income 26,168 44774 36,648
Preferred share dividends (9,983) (9,983) (9,983)
Net income applicable to common shareholders 316,185 $34,791 $26,665
Earnings per share data:
Basic-before extraordinary loss $0.47 $1.02 $0.78
Extraordinary loss -- -- --
Basic $0.47 $1.02 $0.78
Diluted-before extraordinary loss $0.47 $1.02 $0.78
Extraordinary loss -~ -- --
Diluted $0.47 $1.02 $0.78

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Innkeepers USA Trust

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999

(in thousands, except share data)

Preferred Shares Common Shares Additional Distributions Total
Redemption Par Paid-in Unearned in Excess of  Shareholders’
Shares Value Shares Value Capital  Compensation  Net Earnings Equity
Balance at December 31, 1998 4,630,000 $115,750 34,541,586 $345 $365,711 $(4,901) $(22,513) $454,392
Issuance of restricted shares - -- 135,000 2 1,592 (1,594) - -
Amortization of unearned
compensation -- -- - - -- 1,351 -- 1,351
Dividend reinvestment and share
purchase plan, net - -- -- -- (90) - - (90)
Shelf registration statement costs -- -- - -- (61) -- -- (61)
Allocation from minority interest -- -- -- -- 39 -- - 39
Net income - - -- - - - 36,648 36,648
Distributions declared (81.12 per
common share) -- -- -- - -- -- (38,839) (38,839)
Distributions declared ($2.16 per
__preferred share) - -- - -- -- - (9,983) (9,983)
Balance at December 31, 1999 4,630,000 115,750 34,676,586 347 367,191 (5,144) (34,687) 443,457
Issuance of restricted shares - - 82,200 1 857 (858) - -
Amortization of unearned
compensation - - -- - -- 1,181 - 1,181
Shelf registration statement costs - - -- - (23) - -- (23)
Net income -- - -- - - - 44,774 44774
Distributions declared (81.12 per
common share) -- - -- -- -- -- (38,862) (38,862)
Distributions declared ($2.16 per
preferred share) -- -- - -- -- -- (9,983) (9,983)
Balance at December 31, 2000 4,630,000 115,750 34,758,786 348 368,025 (4,821) (38,758) 440,544
Issuance of restricted shares - -- 1,000 - 10 (10) -- --
Amortization of unearned
compensation - - - - -- 1,349 -- 1,349
Shelf registration statement costs - -- -- -- (24) -- -- (24)
Allocation to minority interest - - -- -- (577) -- - (577)
Conversion of Common Units - - 14,370 -- 162 - - 162
Net income - -- - -- - - 26,168 26,168
Distributions declared ($0.91 per
common share) -- -- -- -- -- -- (31,636) (31,636)
Distributions declared ($2.16 per
preferred share) -- -- -- -- -- -- (9,983) (9,983)
Balance at December 31, 2001 4,630,000 $115,750 34,774,156 $348 $367,596 $(3,482) $ (54,209) $426,003

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Innkeepers USA Trust
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999

(in thousands)

2001 2000 1999
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 26,168 $44,774 $ 36,648
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 41,716 40,353 39,216
Minority interests 5,048 6,218 5,900
Loss on sale of hotels, net 250 214 -
Extraordinary loss -- 240 --
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Due from Lessees 1,926 294 (1,785)
Other assets (1,145) 249 (300)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,065 217 130
Net cash provided by operating activities 75,028 92,559 79,809
Cash flows from investing activities:
Investment in hotel properties (36,837) (26,606) (68,810)
Proceeds from sale of hotels - 6,173 -
Net deposits into restricted cash accounts (471) (6,395) (5,379)
Net cash used by investing activities _(37,308) (26,828) {74,189)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from debt issuance 29,500 66,000 131,821
Payments on debt (14,569) (63,690) (79,129)
Dividend reinvestment plan and shelf registration costs paid (24) (23) (151)
Distributions paid to unit holders (6,123) (6,416) (6,436)
Distributions paid to shareholders (51,004) (48,821) (48,784)
Redemption of units (3,893) (985) (178)
Loan origination fees and costs paid (938) (1,790) (1,001)
Net cash used by financing activities (47,053) (55,725) (3,838)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (9,333) 10,006 1,762
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 14,410 4,404 2,642
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 3,077 $ 14,410 $ 4,404
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid $18,121 $18,280 $16,696

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Innkeepers USA Trust
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statememnts

L QOrganization

Innkeepers USA Trust (“Innkeepers™) is a self-administered real estate investment trust (“REIT”), which at
December 31, 2001, owned 67 hotels with an aggregate of 8,131 rooms/suites (the “Hotels™) through its partnership
interests in Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership (with its subsidiary partnerships, the “Partnership” and collectively
with Innkeepers, the “Company”). Innkeepers (through a wholly-owned subsidiary) owned 34,774,156 Common
Units, or 96.42% of the total Common Units, and all of the Series A Preferred Units of the Partnership at December
31, 2001. Third parties owned 1,290,157 Common Units, or 3.58% of the total Common Units, and alt of the Class
B Preferred Units at December 31, 2001. The Hotels are comprised of 45 Residence Inn by Marriott hotels, 12
Hampton Inn hotels, six Summerfield Suites hotels, one Sunrise Suites hotel, one TownePlace Suites by Marriott
hotel, one Courtyard by Marriott hotel and one Holiday Inn Express hotel. The Hotels are located in 23 states, with
11 hotels located in California, five each in Washington, Florida, and Michigan, and four each in Illinois and Texas.

At December 31, 2001, the Company leases 61 of the Hotels to Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. (or other
entities under common control, collectively the “IH Lessee”) and six of the Hotels to affiliates of Wyndham
International, Inc. (the “Summerfield Lessee” and, together with the IH Lessee, the “Lessees™) pursuant to leases
(“Percentage Leases”) which provide for rent based on the room revenues of the Hotels subject to a minimum
annual base rent. An officer of the Company controls the IH Lessee. A trustee of the Company is a director of
Wyndham International, Inc.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Innkeepers and
the Partnership after elimination of all significant intercompany accounts and transactions.

Investment in hotel properties. Hotel properties are recorded at cost and are depreciated using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets (five years for furniture and equipment, 15 years for land
improvements and five to 40 years for buildings and improvements). Costs directly related to the acquisition and
development of hotels are capitalized. Real estate taxes, insurance and interest incurred during the development
period are also capitalized.

Routine repairs and maintenance at the Hotels are the responsibility of the Lessees; major renewals and
betterments are the responsibility of the Company and are capitalized. Upon sale or disposition of an asset, the asset
and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and the gain or loss is included in operations.

The Company periodically reviews the carrying value of each hotel property to determine if circumstances
exist indicating an impairment in the carrying value of the investment or that depreciation periods should be
modified. If circumstances support the possibility of impairment, the Company will prepare a projection of the
undiscounted future cash flows, without interest charges, of the specific hotel and determine if the investment in
such hotel is recoverable. If impairment is indicated, the carrying value of the hotel property is adjusted based on
the estimated discounted future cash flows. The Company does not believe that there are any current facts or
circumstances indicating impairment of any of its investments in hotel properties.

Cash and cash equivalents. All highly liquid debt investments with a maturity of three months or less
when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are placed with reputable institutions and
the balances may at times exceed federal depository insurance limits.

Restricted cash and cash equivalents include amounts the Company must make available to the Lessees for
the replacement and refurbishment of furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other capital expenditures at the
Hotels and amounts held in escrow by certain lenders for the payment of insurance, real estate taxes and additional
capital expenditures.
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Deferred expenses. Deferred expenses are recorded at cost and consist primarily of loan origination fees
and costs and franchise application and transfer fees. Loan origination fees and costs are amortized using the
interest method over the original terms of the related indebtedness, which are three to 12 years. Amortization of
franchise fees is computed using the straight-line method over the original lives of the franchise agreements which
range from approximately three to 13 years. Accumulated amortization of deferred expenses is $1,997,000 and
$1,700,000 at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Minerity inferest. Minority interest represents the limited partners’ proportionate share in the capital of the
Partnership. Income is allocated to the preferred unit holders based on their priority in net income of the
Partnership; then, income is allocated to the common unit holders based on their weighted average percentage
ownership in the Partnership.

Revenue recogmition. Each Hotel is leased by the Company to the Lessees under a percentage lease
agreement (a “Percentage Lease”) which provides for minimum base rent (“Base Rent”) and percentage rent based
on fixed percentages of annual room revenue in excess of certain annual specified levels (“Percentage Rent”). Base
Rent is paid monthly and Percentage Rent is paid on a schedule set forth in each Percentage Lease. Percentage Rent
is paid no later than 25 days subsequent to the end of each calendar quarter.

Base Rent is recognized as income on a straight-line basis over the term of each Percentage Lease.
Percentage rent is recognized as income when room revenues exceed the annual specified levels.

Other charges. Other charges for the year ended December 31, 2001 include $300,000 for legal costs
related to the litigation with the Company’s former Chief Operating Officer (see Note 11), $310,000 in costs
accrued for advisory services related to the Company’s consideration of its alternatives under the REIT
Modernization Act and $172,000 of costs incurred upon the termination of the Percentage Lease on the Summerfield
Suites hotel located in West Hollywood, CA.

Other charges for the year ended December 31, 2000 include $200,000 for legal costs related to the
litigation with the Company’s former Chief Operating Cfficer and $200,000 in costs accrued for advisory services
related to the Company’s consideration of its alternatives under the REIT Modermnization Act.

Stock based compensation. The Company accounts for share option grants in accordance with APB
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 25”) and related Interpretations. Under APB 25,
no compensation expense is recognized for employee share option grants because the exercise price of the options
equals the market price of the underlying shares on the date of grant.

Distributions. The Company intends to pay distributions which, at a minimum, will be sufficient for the
Company to maintain its REIT status.

Income taxes. The Company has elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust under the Internal
Revenue Code and, generally, pays only minimal amounts of federal income taxes. Eamings and profits, which
determine the taxability of distributions to common shareholders, will differ from net income reported for financial
reporting purposes primarily due to the differences in the estimated useful lives and methods used to compute
depreciation for federal income tax purposes.

The following table sets forth certain per share information regarding the Company’s common and
preferred share distributions for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999:

2001 2000 1999
Common shares
Ordinary income $0.850 $1.101 $1.120
Return of capital -- -- --
Capital gain 0.037 0.019 --
Unrecaptured Section 1250 gain 0.023 -- --
Total distribution $0.910 $1.120 $1.120




2001 2000 1999

Preferred shares

Ordinary income $2.01424 $2.11872 $£2.15624
Return of capital -- -- --
Capital gain 0.08800 0.03752 -
Unrecaptured Section 1250 gain 0.05400 -- --
Total distribution $2.15624 $2.15624 $2.15624

Use of estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Fair value of financial instruments. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from
the Lessees, accounts payable and accrued expenses, and distributions payable approximates fair value due to the
short maturity of these instruments.

The fair value of debt is not materially different from its carrying amount and is estimated based on current
rates offered to the Company for similar debt.

3. Acquisitions and Sales of Hotels

The Company acquired four hotels in January, March and May 1999 with an aggregate purchase price of
$49,500,000. These acquisitions have been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. The results of
operations have been included in the accompanying financial statements since the date of acquisition.

On November 3, 2000 the Company sold its Comfort Inn hotel in Allentown, PA for net proceeds of
$6,173,000 to an unaffiliated buyer. The Company recognized a loss of approximately $214,000 on the sale. The
net proceeds from the sale were used to reduce the borrowings outstanding on the Line of Credit.

On January 8, 2001, the Company opened a 121-room Residence Inn by Marriott hotel located in Tysons
Corner, VA. The total cost of this project was approximately $14 million.

In October 2001, the Company entered into a contract to sell its Summerfield Suites hotel located in West
Hollywood, CA. This hotel is classified as “held for sale” at December 31, 2001 and, accordingly, the Company has
recognized a loss of $2350,000 (based on the difference between the estimated net sales proceeds and the hotel’s net
book value of $12,200,000 at December 31, 2001) in the fourth quarter of 2001.

4. Debt

Debt is comprised of the following at December 31, 2001 and 2000:

Interest Rate Monthly Payment Principal Balance
2001 2000 Amount Beginning Maturity 2001 2000
Variable rate debt (000s) (000s)
Line of Credit 3.74% -- €)) ) 07/2004 $ 21,000 --
Industrial development bonds 1.70 5.00% 1) (1) 12/2014 10,000 $ 10,000
Fixed rate debt
First mortgage note 5.00 5.00 $ 23,526  09/1994(2) 08/2001 - 3,092
Second mortgage note 7.00 7.00 141,331 11/1996(2) 06/2010 16,665 17,175
First Term Loan 8.17 8.17 256,250 10/1997(2) 10/2007 27,084 27,880
Second Term Loan 8.15 8.15 355,236  04/1999(2) 03/2009 39,588 40,537
Third Term Loan 7.02 7.02 292,467  04/2000(2) 04/2010 38,779 39,501
Fourth Term Loan 7.16 7.16 436,918 10/2002(2) 10/2009 58,000 58,000
Fifth Term Loan 7.75 7.75 377,664  02/2005(2) 01/2011 50,000 50,000

$261,116  $246,185

(1) Interest only payments are due monthly.
(2) Interest only is due monthly until principal amortization begins at the date indicated.
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The industrial development bonds bear interest at a variable rate which is based upon the 30-day yield of a
group of tax exempt securities selected by an independent third party. The industrial development bonds are
collateralized by letters of credit which have an annual fee of 1.25%.

The Company has a $135 million line of credit (the “Line of Credit”). The Line of Credit is
uncollateralized and has a maximum borrowing amount of $135,000,000. The interest rate on the Line of Credit is
LIBOR plus 122.5 to 162.5 basis points. The Company has bank funding commitments remaining under its Line of
Credit of approximately $104,000,000 at December 31, 2001. However, the actual amount that can be borrowed is
subject to borrowing base availability as described in the loan agreement. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the
Company was in compliance with the financial covenants contained in its various loan agreements. If the trends in
the current operating environment persist, however, the borrowing capacity under the Line of Credit will decrease
by a significant amount and the Company will fail to comply with one or more financial covenants of the Line of
Credit. The Company is currently negotiating an amendment to the Line of Credit which will allow the Company to
comply with its financial covenants in 2002 and restore some of its anticipated lost borrowing capacity. The
amendment is expected to re-set certain financial covenant thresholds for 2002 to levels that contemplate that the
current difficult operating environment persists throughout the year. If the Company fails to conclude such
amendment, or if the operating environment in 2002 worsens substantially from the current trends and the Company
violates the amended covenants, the Company may have to locate replacement financing for borrowings outstanding
under the Line of Credit, locate alterative financing for its hotel development in Saddle River, NJ, or significantly
reduce its other planned capital expenditures.

The Company utilized the Line of Credit to repay borrowings outstanding on the Company’s previous line
of credit. Upon closing of the Line of Credit in May 2000, the previous line of credit was extinguished and the loan
arigination fees and costs associated with the previous line of credit were expensed immediately and recognized as
an extraordinary loss of approximately $240,000.

At December 31, 2001, 39 of the Company’s hotel properties (with a net book value of approximately
$460,526,000) collateralized the fixed rate debt described previously and 28 of the Company’s hotel properties were
unencumbered. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company capitalized interest of
approximately $196,000, $581,000 and $264,000, respectively, in connection with hotels under development.

Future scheduled principal payments for the Company’s debt at December 31, 2001 are as follows (in
thousands):

Year Amount
2002 $ 3,467
2003 4,562
2004 25,890
2005 5,891
2006 6,408
Thereafter 214,898
$261,116

The Company’s Declaration of Trust limits the consolidated indebtedness of the Company to 50.0% of the
Company’s investment in hotels, at cost, after giving effect to the Company’s use of proceeds from any
indebtedness. The Company’s consolidated indebtedness was approximately 30.2% of its investment in hotels, at
cost, at December 31, 2001.

5. Capital Shares and Partnership Equity

The Company’s Board of Trustees is authorized to provide for the issuance of 100 million common shares
and 20 million shares of preferred stock in one or more series, to establish the number of shares in each series and to
fix the designation, powers, preferences, and rights of each such series and the qualifications, limitations or
restriction thereof.
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The Company has 4,630,000 8.625% Series A cumulative convertible preferred shares of beneficial interest
(the “Series A Preferred Shares”) outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000. The Partnership has issued to
Innkeepers (through a wholly-owned subsidiary) a like number of Class A preferred units of limited partnership
interest (“Class A Preferred Units”). The Series A Preferred Shares are convertible into 1.4811 common shares at
any time and, therefore, the Company has reserved 6,857,493 common shares for issuance upon conversion. The
Series A Preferred Shares may be redeemed by the Company after May 18, 2003 at the liquidation preference and
have no stated maturity or sinking fund requirements. The Series A Preferred Shares have a liquidation preference
of $25 per share and are entitled to annual dividends equal to the greater of (i) $2.15624 per share (50.53906 per
share payable quarterly) or (ii) the cash dividend paid or payable on the number of common shares into which a
Series A Preferred Share is then convertible.

Pursuant to the Partnership’s partnership agreement, limited partners who hold common units of limited
partnership interest in the Partnership (“Common Units”) have redemption rights (“Redemption Rights”) which
enable them to redeem each of their Common Units for cash at the then-current fair market value of a common share
or, at Innkeepers’ option, one common share. All of the Redemption Rights are currently effective. The aggregate
number of Common Units outstanding was 1,290,157 and 1,457,101 at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Additionally, limited partners who hold preferred units of limited partnership interest in the Partnership
(“Class B Preferred Units” and collectively with the Common Units, “Units”) have Redemption Rights which enable
them to redeem each of their Class B Preferred Units for cash at the then-current fair market value of a common
share or, at Innkeepers’ option, one common share. The Class B Preferred Units have a liquidation preference of
$11.00 per unit, may be converted into Common Units at any time on a one-for-one basis and will be converted into
Common Units on November 1, 2006 unless previously converted or redeemed. The aggregate number of Class B
Preferred Units outstanding was 3,884,469 and 4,063,329 at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company paid regular distributions on its common shares and Common Units, and the quarterly
distribution for the first three quarters of 2001 was $0.30 per share or unit. The Company paid a distribution on its
common shares and Common Units for the fourth quarter of 2001 in the amount $0.01 per share. The timing and
amount of any future dividends will be determined by the Company’s Board of Trustees based on factors it deems
relevant. Quarterly preferred distributions are payable on each Class B Preferred Unit, and are based on the
dividends payable on the common shares (the minimum Class B Preferred Unit annual distribution is $1.10 and the
maximum is $1.155). The current quarterly preferred distribution rate is $0.275 for each Class B Preferred Unit
($1.10 on an annualized basis).

6. Percentage Lease Revenue

For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, Percentage Lease revenue consisted of Base Rents
of $65,174,000, $62,227,000 and $60,145,000, respectively, and Percentage Rents in excess of Base Rents of
$40,998,000, $61,914,000 and $52,694,000, respectively.

The Lessees have future minimum Base Rent commitments to the Company under the Percentage Leases.
Minimum future Base Rent revenue under the Percentage Leases, assuming no further increases in Base Rent
pursuant to increases in the Consumer Price Index, are as follows through the year 2012 (in thousands):

Year Amount
2002 $65,685
2003 65,685
2004 62,215
2005 55,549
2006 47,401
Thereafter 189,143
$485,678

The Company must rely on the Lessees to generate sufficient cash flow from the operation of the Hotels to
enable the Lessees to meet the rent obligations under the Percentage Leases. The obligations of the Summerfield
Lessee under its Percentage Leases and related agreements are collateralized by $4,759,220 in irrevocable letters of




credit, one of which is pledged to a lender. The obligations of the IH Lessee under its Percentage Leases are not
collateralized and the IH Lessee has only nominal assets, other than working capital. The Lessees have paid all rent
obligations due under the Percentage Leases for 2001.

7. Earnings per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 (in thousands, except share and per share data):

2001 2000 1999
Numerator:
Net income $ 26,168 $ 44,774  $ 36,648
Preferred share dividends (9,983) (9,983) (9,983)
- Net income applicable to common shareholders 16,185 34,791 26,665
Extraordinary loss - 240 --
Net income applicable to common shareholders before
extraordinary loss $ 16,185 § 35031 § 26,665
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share -- weighted-
average shares 34,293,929 34,193,546 34,068,943
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options 59,497 6,202 12,539
Restricted shares 107,708 52,137 67,626
Denominator for diluted earnings per share -- adjusted
weighted average shares and assumed conversions 34,461,134 34,251,885 34,149,108
Earnings per share data:
Basic-before extraordinary loss $ 047 % 1.02 % 0.78
Extraordinary loss -- -- --
Basic $ 047 § .02 § 0.78
Diluted-before extraordinary loss $ 047 3 .02 § 0.78
Extraordinary loss -- - --
Diluted 3 047 § 1.02 § 0.78

The conversion of Common Units into common shares would have no effect on earnings per share. The
Series A Preferred Shares, the Class B Preferred Units and most of the options granted (as discussed in Note 8) are
anti-dilutive and not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share.

8. Share-Based Compensation Plans

The Company’s share incentive plan for employees and officers (the “1994 Plan™) reserves 3,700,000
common shares for issuance (a) upon the exercise of incentive share options and non-qualified options or (b) as
restricted shares and performance shares. Options granted under the 1994 Plan expire not more than ten years from
the date of grant. The Company may grant up to 1,200,000 restricted shares and performance shares under the 1994
Plan. Restricted shares have voting and dividend rights from the date granted.

The exercise price of common share options may not be less than fair market value of the common shares
at the date of grant. The table below delineates information concerning common share options for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999.
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2001 2000 1999
Number of = Weighted  Number of = Weighted = Numberof = Weighted

Shares Average Shares Average Shares Average
Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise

Options Price Options Price Options Price
Outstanding at beginning of year 1,651,250 $11.82 2,037,500 $12.12 1,727,000 $12.46
Granted 5,000 10.16 -- -- 310,500 10.26
Exercised - -- -- -- -- --
Cancelled 2,250 10.56 380,000 13.46 -- --
Forfeited 372,500 12.78 6,250 10.52 -- --
Outstanding at end of year 1,281,500 $11.54 1,651,250 $11.82 2,037,500 $12.12
Exercisable at end of year 1,079,500 $11.71 988,500 $12.08 825,416 $12.32
Weighted average fair value $0.85 $1.18 $1.08
Price range of shares under option ~ $8.875 to $8.875to $8.875 to

$13.6875 $15.1250 $15.1250

Of the 1,281,500 common share options outstanding, 143,000 are incentive share options and 1,138,500 are
non-qualified options. The incentive share options and non-qualified options vest over varying periods, not
exceeding ten and five years, respectively.

The fair value of each share option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following assumptions: (1) common dividend yield of 8.89% for 2001 grants, 7.57% for 2000 grants
and 10.92% for 1999 grants, (2) expected volatility of approximately 20.85% for 2001 grants, 18.16% for 2000
grants and 29.64% for 1999 grants in the Company’s common share price, (3) a risk-free interest rate of 4.60% for
2001 grants, 6.09% for 2000 grants and 5.31% for 1999 grants and (4) an expected option life of four years for
2001, 2000 and 1999 grants. Compensation cost for options granted to employees and trustees, on a pro forma
basis, was $83,907, $250,000 and $562,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
The pro forma compensation costs in this disclosure are not necessarily indicative of future amounts.

Under the 1994 Plan, the Company granted 1,000, 82,200 and 135,000 restricted shares to employees
during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, subject to a vesting schedule. Of the
721,638 restricted shares granted under the 1994 Plan, 250,568 restricted shares were vested at December 31, 2001.
The weighted average fair value per share of the restricted shares granted in 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $10.16,
$10.44 and $11.81, respectively.

The Company’s trustees share incentive plan provides for the granting of incentive share options and
restricted shares to trustees. Restricted shares have voting and dividend rights from the date granted. Options
granted under the trustees plan expire not more than ten years from the date of grant.

The Company has granted an aggregate of 60,000 non-qualified options to trustees with exercise prices
ranging from $6.93 to $16.6875. The common share options vest over varying periods not exceeding five years. As
of December 31, 2001, 60,000 common share options with a weighted average exercise price of $10.77 were vested
and no common share options have been exercised, forfeited or terminated.

The Company has also granted 56,214 restricted shares at a weighted average fair value per share of $12.01
to its non-employee trustees, which vest over varying periods not to exceed five years. At December 31, 2001,
56,214 restricted shares were vested.

9. Commitments

The Hotels are operated under franchise or management agreements with the Lessees as Residence Inn by
Marriott, Summerfield Suites, Sunrise Suites, Hampton Inn, Courtyard by Marriott, TownePlace Suites by Marriott
or Holiday Inn Express hotels. The Company has paid the cost of obtaining or transferring certain franchise license
agreements. The Company has loaned the IH Lessee $905,000 and $937,000, at December 31, 2001 and 2000,
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respectively, for the working capital deposit required under the IH Lessee’s management agreements (the "Marriott
Management Agreements") with wholly-owned subsidiaries of Marriott International, Inc. ("Marriott"). These
advances are due on demand and bear no interest. The franchise and management agreements require the Lessees to
pay fees based on percentages of hotel revenue.

The Company has guaranteed certain of the IH Lessee’s obligations under the franchise licenses and
Marriott Management Agreements, generally in exchange for certain rights to substitute replacement lessees if the
Company terminates the related Percentage Lease.

Under the Percentage Leases, the Company generally is obligated to pay the costs of certain capital
improvements, real estate and personal property taxes and property insurance for the Hotels. Additionally, the
Company must make available to the Lessees an amount equal to 4% of room revenues from the Hotels, on a
monthly basis, for the periodic replacement or refurbishment of furniture, fixtures and equipment and certain other
capital expenditures at the Hotels (subject to certain exceptions as described below). Each of the term loans require
that the Company make available for such purposes, at the Hotels collateralizing those loans, varying amounts up to
a maximum total of 5% of gross revenues from such Hotels.

The Marriott Management Agreements require the Company to set-aside between 2% and 5% of room
revenue for certain capital expenditures at the Marriott managed hotels (the "FF&E Escrow"). The Marriott
management agreements also require the Company to fund certain capital expenditures in addition to the FF&E
Escrow. The Marriott Management Agreements and franchise agreements require the Company to maintain its
Marriott hotels in accordance with Marriott’s brand standards, which may require the Company to spend amounts in
excess of the previously described requirements.

The Company has two fifty-year term ground leases expiring July 2034 and May 2035, respectively, and a
98-year term ground lease expiring October 2084, on the land underlying three of its hotel properties. Minimum
annual rent payable under these leases is approximately $498,000 in the aggregate, subject to increase based on
increases in the consumer price index.

With respect to 14 of the Hotels, if the Company were to sell those hotels in a taxable transaction, the
Company could become liable for certain unitholders’ tax liabilities resulting from such sale.

The Company maintains comprehensive insurance on each of its hotels, including liability, fire and
extended coverage, of the type and amount customarily obtained for or by hotel owners. All of the Company’s’
hotels in California are located in areas that are subject to earthquake activity. Some of these hotels were
constructed under building codes which were less stringent with regard to earthquake-related requirements. An
earthquake could render significant damage to the Company’s hotels. Additionally, areas in Florida where five of
the Company’s hotels are located may experience hurricane or high-wind activity. The Company has earthquake
insurance policies on its hotels in California and wind insurance policies on certain of its hotels located in Florida.
However, various types of catastrophic losses, like earthquakes and floods, may not be fully insurable or may not be
economically insurable. The Company believes its current property insurance, which expires Gctober 31, 2002,
currently covers losses resulting from a terrorist attack. The applicable insurance companies, however, may exclude
this coverage from our existing policies (upon giving proper notice) or future policies. In that event, separate
terrorism insurance policies or endorsements would have to be obtained if the Company wanted to insure this risk.
The Company believes that losses from terrorism may be uninsurable, or may not be economically insurable, in the
future. In the event of a substantial loss from an insured risk, the limits of the Company’s insurance coverages may
not be sufficient to cover the full current market value or replacement cost of the affected hotels. Inflation, changes
in building codes and ordinances, environmental considerations and other factors might also affect the Company’s
ability to replace or renovate a hote! after it has been damaged or destroyed.
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10. Related Party Transactions

The Company has paid $100,000 to the IH Lessee for shared personnel and services in each of the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999. This amount has been recorded in general and administrative expense in
the statements of income. The Company also reimburses the [H Lessee for its proportionate share of rent under a
lease for its corporate office space which was $217,000, $209,000 and $186,000 for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

The Company places substantially all of its insurance with a full service commercial insurance broker that
has a specialty in brokering insurance for hotels. The broker is a private company of which Jack P. DeBoer, a
trustee of the Company, owns 47% of the stock. For the policy years ended October 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the
gross amount of premiums paid by the Company for property and casualty insurance placed by this broker was
approximately $2,201,000, $927,000, and $710,000, respectively. The Company also purchases its trustee and
officer insurance policy and its employee practices liability insurance policy through this broker.

On March 11, 1996, an entity controlled by the Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the
Board of Trustees of the Company (the "Seller") purchased a vacant parcel of land in Tysons Corner, VA for
$915,000. The Seller then began the process of obtaining the governmental approvals necessary to build a hotel on
the land and incurred costs of approximately $70,000 in such efforts. In September 1997, the Seller contracted to
sell the land to Summerfield Hotel Corporation ("SHC") for $2,400,000. SHC then continued the process of
obtaining the governmental approvals and incurred costs of approximately $200,000. In October 1998, SHC failed
to close on the purchase of the land and forfeited its deposit under the purchase agreement. The Seller received
several offers from unrelated buyers to purchase the land for amounts approximating the SHC price between
October 1998 and May 1999 and on May 26, 1999, the Company entered into a contract to purchase the land for
$2,400,000 from the Seller. The Company developed a 121-room Residence Inn by Marriott hotel on the land at a
cost of approximately $11,600,000 (for a total development cost of approximately $14,000,000) and opened the
hotel on January 8, 2001. The land and development costs were funded through the Line of Credit and available
cash.

In connection with the Company’s pending sale of its Summerfield Suites hotel located in West
Hollywood, California, the Company has accrued as of December 31, 2001 a $225,000 lease termination payment to
be paid to the IH lessee upon closing of the sale. The Company has also accrued approximately $168,000 in
amounts due to certain unitholders for tax liabilities resulting from the sale as of December 31, 2001.

As aresult of renovations made in January and February 2002 at the Company’s Holiday Inn Express
Lexington, MA hotel which required that a substantial number of rooms be taken out of service, the Company has
agreed to compensate the TH lessee for the significant loss of room nights by foregoing January and February 2002
base rents in the aggregate of $95,000 and paying approximately $60,000 to offset a portion of the the [H lessee’s
operating deficit for the hotel during that time period.

11. Uncertainties

In May 2000, the Company’s former Chief Operating Officer (who is a minority shareholder in certain of
the IH Lessee entities) filed suit against the Company and certain IH Lessee entities. The suit alleges that he was
wrongfully terminated in breach of his employment contract and also alleges various other related claims against the
Company and the IH Lessee. The Company believes that the claims are without merit and is aggressively defending
against all allegations. The Company believes that any claims that are not settled or otherwise disposed of will be
tried in mid-2002. The Company has not recorded any loss provision relative to damages sought by the former
executive other than the legal costs of defense not covered by insurance policies. However, if the Company settled
or lost the breach of employment contract claim, it would be obligated to pay up to approximately $1,250,000 in
cash, and to vest restricted shares which would result in a non-cash charge of up to approximately $1,175,000. This
estimate includes only the plaintiff”s breach of contract claim.




12. Subsequent Event

On March 1, 2002, the Company’s Board of Trustees declared a first quarter distribution of $0.08 per
common share and unit, $0.53906 per Series A Preferred Share and $0.275 per Class B Preferred Unit to holders of
record on March 29, 2002. The distribution is payable on April 30, 2002.
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Report of Independent Accountants

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Innkeepers Hospitality

In our opinion, the accompanying combined balance sheets and the related combined statements of income,
shareholders’ equity and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Innkeepers
Hospitality (as described in Note 1) at December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of Innkeepers
Hospitality’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America which require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 22, 2002
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- Innkeepers Hospitality
Combined Balance Sheets
December 31, 2001 and 2000
(in thousands, except share data)

2001 2000
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $15,221 $16,134

Marketable securities 3,102 3,330

Accounts receivable, net 3,920 7,951

Prepaid expenses 412 69

Total current assets 22,655 27,484
Other assets 271 64
Total assets $22.926 $27,548
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:;

Accounts payable $ 4,330 $ 4,408

Accrued expenses 4,292 4,372

Payable to Manager 2,269 4,267

Due to Partnership 9,852 13,020

Total current liabilities 20,743 26,067
Other long-term liabilities 904 937
Total liabilities 21,647 27,004
Commitments (Note 4)
Shareholders’ equity:
Common shares, $1 par value, 9,000 and 8,000 shares

authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31,

2001 and 2000, respectively 9 8
Additional paid-in capital 890 471
Unrealized loss on marketable securities (341 (113)
Retained earnings 721 178

Total shareholders’ equity 1,279 544

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $22,926 $27,548

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements.
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Innkeepers Hospitality
Combined Statements of Income

For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999

(in thousands)

2001 2000 1999
Gross operating revenue:
Rooms $200,017 $222,806 $204,539
Food and beverage 242 294 151
Telephone 4,704 6,223 6,347
Other 4,376 4,304 4,043
Gross operating revenue 209,339 233,627 215,080
Departmental expenses:
Rooms 39,047 42.614 40,538
Food and beverage 270 295 183
Telephone 1,664 1,933 2,034
Other 1,732 2,064 1,901
Total departmental profit 166,626 186,721 170,424
Unallocated operating expenses:
General and administrative 16,793 17,882 16,810
Franchise and marketing fees 13,283 13,970 12,880
Advertising and promotions 10,642 11,374 10,279
Utilities 8,582 8,331 8,138
Repairs and maintenance 9,300 9,773 8,975
Management fees 3,888 5,421 4,769
Total unallocated operating expenses 62,488 66,751 61,851
Gross profit 104,138 119,970 108,573
Insurance (1,072) (1,033) (970)
Lessee overhead (4,736) (3,810) (3,468)
Percentage lease expense (93,942) (110,122) {99,193)
Net income 4,388 5,005 4,942
Other comprehensive income — unrealized
gains (losses) on marketable securities (228) 640 (779)
Comprehensive income $ 4,160 § 5,645 § 4,163

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements.
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Innkeepers Hospitality

Combined Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999

(in thousands, except share data)

Common Shares Unrealized
Gain (Loss)
Additional On Total
Paid-in Marketable Retained Shareholders'
Shares Par Value Capital Securities Earnings Equity
Balance at December 31, 1998 7,000 $ 7 -- $ 26 $ 206 $ 239
Issuance of common shares 1,000 1 - -- - 1
Paid-in capital - - $ 290 - - 290
Net income - - - - 4,942 4,942
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
marketable securities -- - - (779) - (779)
Distributions paid - -- -- - (4,108) (4,108)
Balance at December 31, 1999 8,000 8 290 (753) 1,040 585
Paid-in capital -- -- 181 -- -- 181
Net income -- -- -- -- 5,005 5,005
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
marketable securities -- -- -- 640 - 640
Distributions paid -- -- -- -- (5.867) (5,867)
Balance at December 31, 2000 8,000 8 471 (113) 178 544
Issuance of common shares 1,000 1 209 - -- 210
Paid-in capital -- - 210 - -- 210
Net income -- -- - - 4,388 4,388
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
marketable securities -- -- -- (228) -- (228)
Distributions declared -- -- -- - (3,845) (3,845)
Balance at December 31, 2001 9,000 $ 9 $ 890 $ (341 $ 721 $ 1,279

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements.




Innkeepers Hospitality

Combined Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(in thousands)

2001 2000 1999

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $4,388 $ 5,005 £4,942
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 32 24 33
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 4,031 (3,103) (464)
Prepaid expenses (343) 469 (95)
Other assets -- 22 36
Accounts payable (78) 674 (405)
Accrued expenses (80) 28 413
Payable to Manager (1,998) (892) 2,717
Other liabilities - -- 192
Due to Partnership (3,168) 1,285 1,853
Net cash provided by operating activities 2,784 3,512 9,222
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of equipment and leasehold
improvements (239) (6) (15)
Purchase of marketable securities, net -- -- {1,103)
Net cash used in investing activities (239) (6) (1,118)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of advances from Partnership (33) -- --
Paid-in capital 210 181 290
Distributions paid (3,845) (5,402) (4,108)
Issuance of common shares 210 -- 1
Net cash used in financing activities (3,458) (5,221) (3,817)
Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents 913) {1,715) 4,287
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
year 16,134 17,849 13,562
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $15,221 $16,134 $17,849

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements.
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Innkeepers Hospitality
Naotes to Combined Financial Statements

1. Organization

Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. and other entities under common control (collectively “IH” or the “IH Lessee™)
are either majority (80%) or wholly-owned by Jeffrey H. Fisher and were formed primarily to lease and operate
hotels owned by Innkeepers USA Trust (“Innkeepers”) through Innkeepers USA Limited Partnership and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Partnership,” and together with Innkeepers, the “Company”). Mr. Fisher is the Chief
Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Trustees of Innkeepers. The IH Lessee leased 61 hotels
(the “IH Leased Hotels™) from the Company at December 31, 2001.

The IH Lessee operates 44 of the IH Leased Hotels and wholly-owned subsidiaries of Marriott
International, Inc. (“Marriott”) operate 17 of the IH Leased Hotels.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalents. All highly liquid debt investments with a maturity of three months or less
when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are placed with reputable institutions and
the balances may at times exceed federal depository insurance limits. The carrying amount of cash and cash
equivalents approximates fair value.

Marketable Securities. Marketable securities, which primarily consist of 267,450 common shares of the
Company at December 31, 2001 and 2000 are classified as available for sale and are carried at market value.
Marketable securities also include 20,500 preferred shares of the Company at December 31, 2001 and 2000, which
are convertible at any time into 30,363 common shares. The appreciation or depreciation in value of the marketable
securities, since purchase, is recorded in shareholders’ equity until realized.

Prepaid Expenses. Prepaid expenses consist primarily of prepaid insurance.

Revenue Recognition. Revenue is recognized as earned. Credit evaluations are performed and an
allowance for doubtful accounts is provided against accounts receivable which are estimated to be uncollectible.

Franckise Fees. The cost of obtaining franchise licenses, for hotels subject to such licenses, is paid by the
Company on behalf of the IH Lessee, and the continuing franchise fees (generally a percentage of room revenue) are
paid by the [H Lessee.

Advertising Costs. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Included in franchise and marketing fees
are fees (generally a percentage of room revenue) payable to marketing funds of the franchisors which were
$5,474,000, $6,241,000, and $5,745,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Percentage Lease Expense. Each TH Leased Hotel is leased by the Company to the [H Lessee under a
percentage lease agreement (“Percentage Lease”). The Percentage Lease for each IH Leased Hotel provides for
minimum base rent (“Base Rent”) and percentage rent based on fixed percentages of annual room revenue in excess
of certain annual specified levels (“Percentage Rent”). Base Rent is paid monthly and Percentage Rent is paid no
later than 25 days subsequent to the end of each calendar quarter.

Base Rent is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the term of each Percentage Lease.
Percentage rent expense is recognized as expense when it is probable that room revenues will exceed the annual
specified levels.

Income Taxes. The TH Lessee has elected S corporation status under the Internal Revenue Code.
Accordingly, the shareholders of the IH Lessee are taxed on an individual basis on their proportionate share of the
TH Lessee’s taxable income. Consequently, no provision for income taxes has been reflected in the financial
statements.
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Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

3. Share Appreciation Rights

The IH Lessee has granted to certain employees and officers share appreciation rights (“SARs”) entitling
the holder to a cash payment equal to the difference between the Company’s common share price on the date of
exercise and the exercise price of the SAR. The SARs vest over periods of up to five years and have a maximum
term of ten years. The IH Lessee has granted a total of 673,500 SARs with exercise prices ranging from $10.00 to
$13.25. During the year ended December 31, 2001, 24,300 SARs were exercised and 57,000 SARs were forfeited.
At December 31, 2001, there were 442,800 SARs outstanding and 304,600 of these were vested. For the year ended
December 31, 1999, the IH Lessee has recognized $126,000 in income related to the SARs and for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000 the IH Lessee recognized compensation cost of approximately $23,000 and $27,000,
respectively, related to the SARs, which is included in Lessee Overhead in the accompanying combined statements
of income.

4. Commitments and Related Party Transactions

The IH Lessee has future lease commitments for office space through 2004. Minimum future rental
payments under this noncancelable operating lease is approximately $425,000 per year. The Company reimburses
the TH Lessee for its proportionate share of rent under this lease. Rent expense, excluding Percentage Lease
expense, was $205,000, $152,000 and $146,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively.

The [H Lessee has future minimum Base Rent commitments under the Percentage Leases to the Company
through 2012. Minimum future Base Rent payments under the Percentage Leases, assuming no further increases in
Base Rent pursuant to increases in the Consumer Price Index, are as follows (in thousands):

Year Amount
2002 $57,955
2003 57,955
2004 54,485
2005 47,819
2006 39,671
Thereafter 146,470
$404,355

The IH Lessee paid Base Rent of $57,444,000, $53,489,000 and $51,637,000, and Percentage Rent, in
excess of Base Rent, of $36,498,000, $56,633,000 and $47,556,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000
and 1999, respectively.

Marriott operates 17 of the IH Leased Hotels under management agreements with the IH Lessee (the
“Marriott Management Agreements”). The Marriott Management Agreements, generally, have an initial term of 13
years and provide for base fees and incentive fees which are based on the performance of the Marriott managed
hotels. The payment of incentive fees is subordinate to the IH Lessee’s obligations under the Percentage Leases at
the Marriott managed hotels. The Marriott Management Agreements also contain substantial penalties for early
termination without cause. Amounts due to Marriott under the Marriott Management Agreements are included in
“Payable to Manager” in the accompanying combined balance sheets. The right to operate the 17 hotels as
Residence Inn by Marriott hotels or TownePlace Suites by Marriott hotel is contained in the Marriott Management
Agreements. In lieu of a franchise fee, the Marriott Management Agreements provide for a system fee of 5% of
gross revenues at the Marriott managed hotels. The system fee is included in “Franchise Fees™ in the accompanying
combined statements of income.
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On December 29, 2000, the IH Lessee and Marriott agreed to convert the Marriott Management
Agreements on ten Residence Inn by Marriott hotels to franchise agreements and the IH Lessee became the manager
of the hotels.

The Company has reimbursed the TH Lessee $100,000 for shared personnel and services for each of the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

The Company has advanced to the I[H Lessee the working capital deposit required under certain of the
Marriott Management Agreements. These advances are included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying
combined balance sheets.

Percentage Lease expense due to the Company which remains unpaid at December 31, 2001 and 2000 is
included in Due to Partnership in the accompanying combined balance sheets.

As a result of renovations made in January and February 2002 at the Company’s Holiday Inn Express —
Lexington, MA hotel which required that a substantial number of rooms be taken out of service, the Company has
agreed to compensate the IH lessee for the significant loss of room nights by foregoing January and February 2002
base rents in the aggregate of $95,000 and paying approximately $60,000 to offset a portion of the the TH lessee’s
operating deficit for the hotel during that time period.

5. Employee Benefit Plans

The IH Lessee sponsors a defined contribution employee benefit plan (the “Plan™). Substantially all
employees who are age 21 or older and have at least one year of service, as defined, are eligible to participate in the
Plan. Employees may contribute up to 15% of their compensation to the Plan, subject to certain annual limitations.
The IH Lessee currently does not contribute to the Plan, however, the IH Lessee absorbs certain administrative
expenses of the Plan.

The IH Lessee sponsors a self-insured health plan for its employees. The IH Lessee has made a provision
for reported and unreported claims incurred as of December 31, 2001 and 2000. The IH Lessee also maintains
individual and aggregate stop loss insurance policies.

During 2001, the IH Lessee implemented a deferred compensation plan for the benefit of certain of its
officers and employees. Under the plan’s terms, the IH Lessee granted the participants an aggregate of 20,000
Innkeepers shares held by the TH Lessee. The shares vest at the end of five years and will be distributed at that time.
The IH Lessee recognizes compensation expense over the vesting period based on the fair market value of the shares
at the date of grant. The plan also contains provisions that accelerate a portion of the vesting in each year that
certain performance conditions are met. No shares were distributed for the year ended December 31, 2001.
Accordingly, the TH Lessee still holds all of the shares and the shares are included in the investment in marketable
securities.

6. Uncertainties

In May 2000, the IH Lessee’s former President (who is a minority shareholder in certain of the IH Lessee
entities and who was an officer of the Company) filed suit against the Company and certain IH Lessee entities. The
suit alleges that he was wrongfully terminated in breach of his employment contract and also alleges various other
related claims against the Company and the IH Lessee. The [H Lessee believes that the claims are without merit and
is aggressively defending against all allegations. The IH Lessee believes that any claims that are not settled or
otherwise disposed of will be tried in mid-2002. The IH Lessee has not recorded any loss provision relative to
damages sought by the former executive other than the legal costs of defense not covered by insurance policies.

In September 2001, the IH Lessee terminated its former Vice President of Operations and, in November
2001, the former officer filed for arbitration claiming a breach of his employment agreement. Arbitration in this
matter has been scheduled for April 2002. The IH Lessee believes that it did not breach the employment agreement,
is defending this claim aggressively, and, therefore, has not recorded any loss provision relative to damages for this
claim.
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If the IH Lessee settled or lost the breach of employment contract claims, the IH Lessee could be obligated
to pay up to approximately $1,250,000 in cash. This estimate includes only the plaintiffs’ breach of contract claims.

7. Subsequent Event

In January 2002, an interest bearing loan in the amount of $750,000 was made to Mr. Fisher.
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Report of Independent Accountants

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders of
Innkeepers USA Trust

QOur audits of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our report dated February 22, 2002, except
for Note 12, as to which the date is March 1, 2002 appearing on page F-2 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K also
included an audit of the financial statement schedule listed in the index on page F-1 of this Form 10-K. In our
opinion, this financial statement schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein
when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 22, 2002
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2001 2000 1999
Cost of land and improvements, and buildings
and improvements:
Balance at beginning of year $727,245,529 $724,157,401 $663,948,583
Additions 26,908,109 10,209,286 60,416,063
Disposals (1,178,813) (7,121,158) (207,245)
Balance at end of year $752,974,825 $727,245,529 $724,157,401
Accumulated depreciation on land
improvements, buildings and improvements:
Balance at beginning of year $71,161,269 $52,694,780 $34,136,073
Additions 20,759,698 19,484,870 18,695,439
Disposals (1,141,827) (1,018,381) . (136,732)
Balance at end of year $90,779,140 $71,161,269 $52,694,780
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RISK FACTORS

SOME OF THE INFORMATION YOU WILL FIND IN THIS ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K,
AND IN QUR OTHER 1934 ACT FILINGS AND OUR PROSPECTUSES OR ANY PROSPECTUS
SUPPLEMENTS, MAY CONTAIN "FORWARD-LOOKING" STATEMENTS. ALSO, DOCUMENTS
SUBSEQUENTLY FILED BY OUR COMPANY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
MAY CONTAIN FORWARD-LOCKING STATEMENTS. YOU CAN IDENTIFY THESE TYPES OF
STATEMENTS BY THEIR USE OF FORWARD-LOOKING WORDS SUCH AS "MAY,” "SHOULD,"
"COULD.," "PLANS" "INTENDS,” "EXPECTS," "ANTICIPATES," "ESTIMATES," "PROJECTS,"
"CONTINUES," "IS DESIGNED TO," "POTENTIAL" OR OTHER SIMILAR WORDS. THESE TYPES OF
STATEMENTS DISCUSS FUTURE EVENTS OR EXPECTATIONS OR CONTAIN PROJECTIONS OR
ESTIMATES. WHEN CONSIDERING THESE FORWARD-LOOCKING STATEMENTS, YOU SHOULD KEEP
IN MIND THE FOLLOWING RISK FACTORS. THESE RISK FACTORS COULD CAUSE CUR ACTUAL
RESULTS TO DIFFER MATERIALLY AND ADVERSELY FROM THOSE CONTAINED IN OR IMPLIED BY
ANY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT.

The following risk factors are not necessarily exhaustive, particularly as to possible future events, and new
risk factors may emerge periodically. Many things can happen that can cause our actual results to be very different
than those we describe in our SEC filings. Any statements we make that are not historical facts should be
considered to be forward-looking statements. We make no promise to update any of our forward-looking
statements, or to publicly release the results if we revise any of them.

We Rely on Others to Operate our Hotels and For Qur Cash Flow.

In order for us to continue to qualify as a real estate investment trust, or “REIT”, third parties must operate
our hotels. Under prior law, we were required to lease our hotels to entities that we did not own. As a result we
lease substantially all of our hotels to Innkeepers Hospitality, Inc. (or affiliated entities, the “IH Lessee™). Under the
terms of the operating leases for our hotels (“Percentage Leases™), our ability to participate in operating decisions is
very limited. Even if we believe that our hotels are not being operated efficiently, we may not be able to require a
lessee to change the way it operates hotels. Moreover, we depend on lease payments from our lessees for
substantially all of our revenues. Jeffrey H. Fisher controls the IH Lessee and is the Chief Executive Officer,
President and Chairman of the Board of Trustees of Innkeepers.

The IH Lessee Relies Solely en the Operations of Qur Hotels for Liguidity.

The IH Lessee has limited liquidity and nominal net worth. For a discussion of the IH Lessee’s financial
condition, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis — IH Lessee — Liquidity and Capital Resources” in the first
part of this report. The Percentage Leases may be terminated if a default under a lease occurs; a default under one
Percentage Lease with the IH Lessee constitutes a default under all of the Percentage Leases with the TH Lessee.
Nonetheless, if the IH Lessee cannot pay rent or comply with its other obligations under the Percentage Leases, we
may have limited ability to collect those amounts or require its compliance. See also “-- Conflicts of Interest and
Related Party Transactions — The IH Lessee” below.

September 11, 2001°’s Events and the Current U.S. Economic Recession Have Negatively Affected, And
Could Continue To Negatively Affect, Both the Hotel Industry and our Results of Operations and Financial
Condition,

Before September 11, 2001, our hotels had begun experiencing declining revenue per available room, or
“RevPAR?”, as a result of the slowing U.S. economy. The terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 and the after-
effects, as well as the economic recession, have substantially reduced business and leisure travel throughout the U.S.
and hotel industry RevPAR generally. RevPAR at our hotels specifically has declined substantially since September
11, 2001. While RevPAR at our hotels has improved somewhat from the depressed levels in the weeks following
the events of September 11, RevPAR at our hotels remains well below pre-September 11, 2001 levels and may
remain at depressed levels. We cannot predict the extent to which the events of September 11, 2001 will continue to
directly or indirectly impact the hotel industry or our operating results in the future. Continued lower RevPAR at
our hotels could have an adverse affect on our results of operations and financial condition, including our ability to
remain in compliance with our debt covenants, our ability to fund capital improvements at our hotels, and our ability
to make shareholder distributions necessary to maintain our status as a REIT. Additional terrorist attacks, acts of
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war or similar events could have further material adverse effects on the hotel industry at large and our operations in
particular.

We were also particularly adversely affected in 2001 by our concentration of hotels in California, and in the
Silicon Valley specifically, where the decline of technology companies and business during the current recession
has been pronounced. We do not know to what extent that sector will rebound, or when a recovery in the sector
will gain momentum. A recovery in this business sector may lag a recovery in the economy in general, which would
limit or delay our participation in such a recovery. See “ -- Concentration of Investment in California, Pacific
Northwest, Florida, Illinois, Texas and Michigan” below.

Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions.

Jeffrey H. Fisher. Affiliates of Mr. Fisher contributed Hotels to the Company on a favorable tax basis in
connection with our initial public offering in 1994. The sale, refinancing or prepayment of indebtedness secured by
those Hotels may trigger adverse tax consequences to Mr. Fisher. Conflicts of interest, therefore, exist between the
Company and Mi. Fisher regarding any transaction involving those Hotels that could trigger adverse tax
consequences to Mr. Fisher.

The IH Lessee. At December 31, 2001, we leased 61 Hotels to the [H Lessee pursuant to Percentage
Leases. The IH Lessee is controlled by Mr. Fisher. Each Percentage Lease had an initial term of at least 10 years
(except for two hotels leased for five-year terms). Under the Percentage Leases, the TH Lessee is required to pay the
greater of (a) a fixed base rent or (b) percentage rent based on the hotel revenue, and certain additional charges, and
is entitled to all profits from the operation of the hotels after the payment of rent, operating expenses and other
expenses (including management fees). Payments of rent under the Percentage Leases with the TH Lessee
constituted approximately 88.4% of the Company’s 2001 Percentage Lease revenues. For 2001, the IH Lessee
incurred or paid the Partnership an aggregate of approximately $93.9 million in lease payments and had combined
net income of approximately $4.4 million from the operation of the Company’s Hotels leased by the IH Lessee.
The TH Lessee has nominal net worth with which to satisfy its obligations to the Company and other creditors.
Therefore, the Company must rely on the cash flow generated by the IH Lessee from the operations of the Hotels to
satisfy [H’s obligations under the Percentage Leases and any other obligations. Because Mr. Fisher is the Chief
Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Trustees of the Company, and controls the TH Lessee,
conflicts of interest do or may exist between Mr. Fisher and the Company regarding (a) enforcement of the terms of
the Percentage Leases, (b) whether and on what terms Percentage Leases will be renewed upon the expiration of
their current terms and (c) whether and on what terms additional leases or management contracts will be awarded to
the IH Lessee.

From mid-December 2001 to mid-February 2002, approximately 80% of the rooms at the Holiday Inn
Express - Lexington, MA were taken out of service to accommodate significant renovations required by the
franchisor. The renovations and other franchisor-imposed conditions also adversely affected the hotel’s ability to
generate revenue from the rooms remaining in service. As revenue was materially decreased during this period, we
agreed to waive our right to collect base rent under the Percentage Lease for the hotel for January and February
2002, which would have totaled approximately $95,000. In addition, we agreed to a credit against future rent to
compensate for the decreased amount of income generated by the IH Lessee in January and February 2002, as
compared to the average results for those months in the previous two years. We expect that credit to equal
approximately $60,000.

In October 2001, we terminated a Percentage Lease with the Summerfield Lessee on the West Hollywood
Hotel. Among other reasons for terminating the lease, we contemplated marketing the hotel for sale and sought to
unencumber the hotel from the Summerfield Lessee’s interests. The IH Lessee agreed to enter into a five year
Percentage Lease with us on the West Hollywood Hotel and began operating the hotel. The West Hollywood Hotel
secures, in part, a loan to the Company by a third party lender, and the lender would not agree to a change in the
economic terms of the lease. Therefore, the IH Lessee agreed to enter into the new lease with us for the West
Hollywood Hotel on the same rent terms as the Summerfield Lessee’s prior lease, understanding that the hotel
would likely be sold in the near- to mid-term. The IH Lessee’s Percentage Leases permits us to terminate a lease
and sell the related hotel unencumbered by the lease, if we pay the IH Lessee the fair market value of the leasehold




interest being terminated, either in cash or with one or more replacement leases on other hotels. The TH Lessee and
the Company understood that if the West Hollywood hotel was sold before {ate 2002, it was likely to produce losses
for the IH Lessee due to the poor hotel business environment after the September 11 attacks and due to the rent
formula that the TH Lessee was required to accept. Therefore, we agreed that if the West Hollywood Hotel is sold
before the TH Lessee is able to recover its expected short-term losses on the hotel, we will pay the TH Lessee for its
lease interest cash equal to its accumulated losses, up to a maximum of $225,000. The parties agreed that such
payment would satisfy our obligation under the Percentage Lease to compensate the IH Lessee for the termination of
the lease.

The Company shares office space with the IH Lessee, for which it reimburses the IH Lessee. In addition,
the Company and the IH Lessee share the services of certain employees performing certain corporate staff,
administrative and similar functions, for which cost allocations are made. The Company paid the [H Lessee
$100,000 in 2001 for the net amount of these allocations.

In May 2000, the former Chief Operating Officer of the Company (who is a minority shareholder of certain
IH Lessee entities) filed suit against the Company, the IH Lessee and Mr. Fisher. The suit alleges that he was
wrongfully terminated and also alleges various other related claims against the Company and the IH Lessee. The
Company believes that the claims are without merit and is aggressively defending against all allegations. The
Company believes that any claims that are not settled or otherwise disposed of will be tried in mid-2002. Because
the IH Lessee and Mr. Fisher are named in the suit along with the Company, conflicts of interest may exist between
the Company and Mr. Fisher regarding litigation tactics and settlement negotiations.

Franchise Licenses; Management Agreements. The IH Lessee, which is controlled by Mr. Fisher, holds all
of the franchise licenses for the Hotels leased by the IH Lessee (to the extent such hotels have franchise
agreements). The IH Lessee pays the franchise fees for all of Hotels leased to it that are subject to franchise fees,
except for franchise license application and transfer fees, which typically are paid by us. Since our inception in
1994, we have paid franchise license application, transfer and related fees for hotels leased to the IH Lessee in the
aggregate amount of approximately $926,000. We have also entered into agreements with franchisors under which
we have guaranteed certain obligations of the ITH Lessee under franchise agreements, including obligations to pay
royalties and other fees to the franchisors, generally in exchange for the right to substitute a different lessee as the
franchisee under the relevant franchise agreement if we terminate the Percentage Lease for a franchised hotel.

The TH Lessee is also the primary contracting party under management agreements with subsidiaries of
Marriott International, Inc. (“Marriott™) relating to the 17 Hotels managed by Marriott (“Marriott Management
Agreements™). The right of those Hotels to operate under the Residence Inn by Marriott or TownePlace Suites by
Marriott brands is generally contained in the Marriott Management Agreements, and not in separate franchise
agreements. The IH Lessee pays the management and other fees payable under the Marriott Management
Agreements. We have loaned to the IH Lessee an aggregate of approximately $860,000, which the TH Lessee was
required to make available to Marriott for initial working capital at certain Hotels managed by Marriott. In addition,
we advanced the TH Lessee a $44,400 working capital loan when it began leasing and operating the Summerfield
Suites in West Hollywood, CA (the “West Hollywood Hotel”) in October 2001. These loans are unsecured, bear no
interest, and are payable on demand. We generally expect that a working capital loan for a hotel will be repaid at
the termination of the related Percentage Lease.

We have executed most of the Marriott Management Agreements as a third party, pursuant to which we
have guaranteed certain of the obligations of the IH Lessee under those agreements, including obligations to pay
management fees, franchise system fees, and other fees to Marriott. In exchange, we have the right, under certain
circumstances, to substitute a different lessee as party to the relevant Marriott Management Agreement, if we
terminate the Percentage Lease for a Hotel managed by Marriott,

As we have guaranteed certain obligations of the IH Lessee under franchise agreements and Marriott
Management Agreements, conflicts of interest exist between the Company and Mr. Fisher regarding the
performance of the IH Lessees under the franchise agreements or Marriott Management Agreements or other actions
or failures to act by the IH Lessee which could result in liability to us under our guarantees.
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Jack P. DeBoer. In November 1996, we acquired seven Residence Inn by Marriott hotels (the “DeBoer
Hotels™) from affiliates of Jack P. DeBoer (the “DeBoer Group™), including Rolf E. Ruhfus. The DeBoer Group
received Class B preferred units of limited partnership interest in the Partnership (“Preferred Units”) in partial
consideration for the acquisitions. Following the acquisition of the DeBoer Hotels, Mr. DeBoer joined our Board
of Trustees. Mr. DeBoer joined the Board under an arrangement requiring the Company to nominate Mr. DeBoer
for election to the Board and to support his nomination, except if Mr. DeBoer (i) acts or fails to act in a manner that
the Board deems detrimental to the Company and as a result of which the Board determines unanimously that it
cannot nominate Mr. DeBoer, (b) ceases to own at least 25% of the Preferred Units that he owned upon the closing
of the acquisition of the DeBoer Hotels acquisition or (c) is legally disqualified from serving as a trustee.

Due to the potential adverse tax consequences to members of the DeBoer Group that may result from a sale
of the DeBoer Hotels, we agreed that for a period of up to ten years following the closing of the acquisition of the
DeBoer Hotels, (i) a taxable sale of a DeBoer Hotel will require the consent of the applicable members of the
DeBoer Group and (ii) we will maintain at all times outstanding indebtedness of at least approximately $40 million
(the “Required Indebtedness™). The Required Indebtedness is subject to reduction upon the occurrence of certain
events, including the death of, or certain redemptions or taxable transfers of the Preferred Units held by, members of
the DeBoer Group. If we sell a DeBoer Hotel without the required consent or fails to maintain the Required
Indebtedness, we agreed to indemnify the applicable members of the DeBoer Group for certain resulting income tax
liabilities, which could be substantial. Notwithstanding these indemnification rights, and particularly after the
indemnification period ends, conflicts of interest may exist between the Company and Mr. DeBoer regarding
transactions involving the DeBoer Hotels that could trigger adverse tax consequences to some or all of the DeBoer
Group.

Mr. DeBoer and certain of his affiliates have in the past, and continue to be, involved in the development of
hotels, including extended-stay hotels. Mr. DeBoer is the Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer,
President and a significant shareholder of Candlewood Hotel Company, Inc. (“Candlewood”), a public hotel
company that is the owner, operator and franchisor of Candlewood and Cambridge Suites hotels, an economy
extended-stay hotel chain founded by Mr. DeBoer. Hotels developed by Mr. DeBoer and his affiliates, including
Candlewood and Cambridge Suites hotels, may compete with our hotels for guests, and hotel companies with which
Mr. DeBoer is affiliated, including Candlewood, may compete with us for acquisition opportunities and for qualified
employees. Accordingly, the interests of the Company and Mr. DeBoer could be different in connection with
matters relating to our Hotels or proposed acquisitions that are competitive with hotels owned or being considered
for acquisition or development by Mr. DeBoer and his affiliates.

Each Preferred Unit held by the DeBoer Group may be redeemed for an amount of cash equal to the then-
trading value of a Common Share on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) or, at our option, one Common
Share. Assuming full redemption of all Units held by the DeBoer Group and the issuance of Common Shares in
exchange for those Units, the DeBoer Group would own approximately 10% of the Common Shares outstanding at
December 31, 2001 (assuming no redemptions of Units held by others).

The Company and the TH Lessee have, for the last several years, placed substantially all of their insurance
through Manning & Smith, Wichita, Kansas, a full service commercial insurance broker that has developed a
specialty in insuring hotels. Manning & Smith is a private company of which Mr, DeBoer owns 47% of the stock.
Mr. DeBoer has informed us that he is not an officer of Manning & Smith and does not participate in its
management or the setting of its corporate policies. Under the Percentage Leases with the IH Lessee, certain
insurance coverages are required to be paid for by the Company (generally, property coverages for casualties such as
fire, earthquake, etc.) and other customary coverages are required to be paid for by the IH Lessee (generally,
liability coverages such as general liability and crime). In addition, each party must pay for its own worker’s
compensation, employment practices liability and, in the Company’s case, trustees’ and officers’ insurance. The
Company and the TH Lessee have historically purchased many of these coverages under blanket policies and
allocated costs between them as required by the Percentage Leases or, if not addressed by the Percentage Leases, as
otherwise agreed between them. We believe that in cases where each party requires coverage (i.e, workers’
compensation), buying as part of a larger group has achieved cost and administrative benefits, which have
outweighed the affects (if any) of having its loss experience grouped with the IH Lessee’s loss experience.




The gross amount of the premiums paid for the twelve months ending October 31, 2001 for coverages
placed by Manning & Smith was approximately $926,989 for the Company and approximately $1,272,990 for the
IH Lessee. Most of our coverages renewed on November 1, 2001. Due primarily to (a) the effects of the
September 11 attacks on the insurance market, (b) the significant number of relatively older wood-frame, non-
sprinklered hotels owned by us and (c) a relatively few significant claim payouts incurred by our insurers on behalf
of the Company and/or the IH Lessee, the Company and the IH Lessee were able to renew at premium increases of,
in some cases, greater than 100%. In addition, the Company will be subject to higher deductibles and more
coverage exclusions than in the past and, in some cases, such as for California earthquake coverage, lower limits of
coverage. FEach year, the Company and the IH Lessee seek to confirm, by obtaining alternate bids and/or
independent advice, that their coverages are sufficient and that the premiums are generally consistent with premiums
charged to similarly situated companies. As a result of that process for the renewal in October 2001, the Company
and the TH Lessee placed their worker’s compensation insurance with a company other than Manning & Smith,
although their other coverages were renewed through Manning & Smith.

Rolf E. Ruhfus. In June 1997, we acquired nine hotels (the “Summerfield Hotels”) from affiliates of Rolf
E. Ruhfus (the “Summerfield Group™). The Summerfield Group, received common units of limited partnership
interest in the Partnership (“Common Units™) in partial consideration for the acquisitions. Following the acquisition
of the Summerfield Hotels, Mr. Ruhfus joined our Board of Trustees. Mr. Ruhfus joined the Board under an
arrangement requiring us to nominate Mr. Ruhfus for election to the Board and to support his nomination, except if
Mr. Ruhfus (i) acts or fails to act in a manner that the Board deems detrimental to us and as a result of which the
Board determines unanimously that it cannot nominate Mr. Ruhfus, (b) ceases to own at least 25% of the Common
Units that he owned upon the closing of the Summerfield Hotel acquisition or (¢) s legally disqualified from serving
as a trustee.

In 1998, we sold two of the Summerfield Hotels back to the Summerfield Group, along with a third hotel.
In October 2001, we terminated the Summerfield Lessee’s lease of one of the Summerfield Hotels, and leased that
hotel to the IH Lessee in contemplation of a sale of that hotel. We lease the six remaining Summerfield Hotels to
the Summerfield Lessee. Mr. Rufhus serves on the Board of Directors of Wyndham International, Inc., the parent of
the Summerfield Lessee and the manager and franchiser of those six hotels (and the franchisor of the one
Summerfield Hotel leased to the TH Lessee). Pursuant to the terms of the Percentage Leases, the Summerfield
Lessee is required to pay the greater of (a)a fixed base rent or (b) percentage rent based on the revenues of the
hotels, and certain other additional charges, and is entitled to all profits from the operation of the hotels after the
payment of rent, operating expenses and other expenses (including insurance). For the year ended December 31,
2001, the Summerfield Lessee incurred or paid us an aggregate of approximately $12.3 million in lease payments
under the Percentage Leases for the Summerfield Hotels. Accordingly, conflicts of interest may exist between the
Company and Mr. Rufhus regarding enforcement of the terms of those Percentage Leases.

In OGctober 2001, we paid the Summerfield Lessee $160,000 to terminate its Percentage Lease on the West
Hollywood Hotel. We had been engaged in discussions with the Summerfield Lessee regarding the performance of
the hotel, various performance tests under the hotel’s Percentage Lease and the parties’ respective rights and
obligations under the Percentage Lease and related agreements. Ultimately, we decided to pay a relatively small
amount of money to terminate the Summerfield Lessee’s right to operate the West Hollywood Hotel, which
coincided with our decision to market the hotel for sale. We are again discussing with the Summerfield Lessee the
performance of certain other Summerfield Hotels as it relates to various performance criteria under the Percentage
Leases.

Due to the potential adverse tax consequences to members of the Summerfield Group that may result from
a sale of the Summerfield Hotels, we agreed that for a period of up to seven years following the closing of the
acquisition of the Summerfield Hotels, any taxable sale of a Summerfield Hotel will require the consent of the
applicable members of the Summerfield Group. If we sell a Summerfield Hotel without the required consent, we
agreed to indemnify the applicable members of the Summerfield Group for certain resulting income tax liabilities,
which could be substantial. Notwithstanding this indemnification, and particularly after the indemnification period
ends, conflicts of interest may exist between the Company and Mr. Ruhfus regarding transactions involving the
Summerfield Hotels that could trigger adverse tax consequences to some or all of the Summerfield Group. In 2001,
we classified the Summerfield Hotel in West Hollywood, California as being held for sale, and made a special tax
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election to recognize a gain. As a result of this election, we triggered a tax liability to members of the Summerfield
Group, and paid them $168,511 in January 2002 in satisfaction of our indemnification obligations.

Mr. Ruhfus and certain of his affiliates have in the past, and continue to be, involved in the development of
hotels, including extended-stay hotels. As noted above, Mr. Ruhfus is a Board member of Wyndham International,
Inc. Wyndham owns, operates and franchises Summerfield Suites hotels as well as other full and limited service
hotels and hotel brands. An entity controlled by Mr. Ruhfus also owns the Sierra Suites brand, which is a mid-
priced extended-stay hotel founded by Mr. Ruhfus. Affiliates of Mr. Ruhfus own and operate several Sierra Suites
hotels and Summerfield Suites hotels. Hotels developed by Mr. Ruhfus and/or Wyndham, including Summerfield
Suites hotels, may compete with our hotels for guests and companies with which Mr. Ruhfus is affiliated may
compete with us for acquisition opportunities and for qualified employees. Accordingly, the interests of the
Company and Mr. Ruhfus could be different in connection with matters relating to the Company’s Hotels or
proposed acquisitions that are competitive with hotels owned or being considered for acquisition or development by
Wyndham.

Wyndham has guaranteed the obligations of the Summerfield Lessee, and has posted $4,759,220 in letters
of credit as security for its obligations under the Percentage Leases for the six Summerfield Hotels leased to the
Summerfield Lessee (“Summerfield Leases™).

Mr. Ruhfus’ roles as trustee of the Company and director of Wyndham may pose conflicts regarding when,
whether and to what extent (a) obligations under the Summerfield Leases and related guarantees are adhered to
and/or (b) remedies are pursued and obtained by the Company under the Summerfield Leases, including draws
under the letter of credit.

If We Complete a Transaction Under The REIT Modernization Act, We Will Have More Exposure to Hotel
Operations.

Under the REIT Modernization Act (“RMA”) that took effect on January 1, 2001, we can own a ‘taxable
REIT subsidiary’ (a “TRS”), to which we can lease hotels if they are operated by third parties. The new law would
permit us to retain more control over a hote] than we could under the prior law. Nonetheless, our ability to mandate
changes in operations by our operators will still be more limited than if we operated the hotels directly. Under
applicable tax law, the rent payable to us under our Percentage Leases must be based on revenue (and not income)
of the hotels. This structure limits our ability align our Lessees’ financial interests with our interests. A TRS must
retain a third party to manage the hotels that it leases. In the case of many of the hotels currently leased to the IH
Lessee, that manager would likely be controlled by Mr. Fisher. We believe that the management agreements under
which any manager would operate our hotels would be structured to more closely align the operator’s interests with
our interests.

The new law also would permit us to capture the after-tax net income (after the payment of management
fees) currently being retained by the IH Lessee. However, if in the future hotels that are currently leased to the IH
Lessee are instead leased to a TRS, we would be subject to all of the operating risks of those hotels, whereas under
our current structure the IH Lessee retains most of the benefits and risks of the operations of those hotels. We also
would be exposed to the operating risks of any newly acquired or developed hotels if we leased those hotels to a
TRS. If the operating results of hotels leased to a TRS declined or, with respect to newly acquired or developed
hotels, did not perform to expectations, it would negatively affect our results, cash flow and ability to pay
distributions. »

We have retained an advisor, who has recommended that we pursue a transaction with the IH Lessee under
the RMA. Although no specific transaction is under active consideration at this time, we expect to undertake
consideration of a proposed RMA transaction in the near future. We are also considering whether and to what
extent we may take advantage of the RMA with respect to our hotels that are leased to the Summerfield Lessee.
Any consideration paid to terminate an existing lease would be an expense in the then-current period for financial
reporting purposes, and such payments could be material.

Please also review “Business — Narrative Description of Business — The REIT Modernization Act” in the
first part of this report.




If We Cannot Obtain Additional Financing, Qur Growth Will be Limited.

We are required to distribute to our shareholders at least 90% of our taxable income each year in order to
continue to qualify as a REIT, and our policy is to distribute 100% of taxable income. As a result, after our capital
expenditures our retained earnings available to fund acquisitions or development are nominal. We will rely
primarily upon the availability of debt or equity capital to fund these activities. Our ability to grow through
acquisitions or development of hotels will be limited if we can’t continue to obtain additional financing. Cur
Declaration of Trust limits our outstanding indebtedness to 50% of our investment in hotel properties at cost, and
our loan agreements may be more restrictive. Market conditions may make it difficult to obtain financing and we
can’t assure you that we will be able to obtain additional debt or equity financing or that we will be able to obtain it
on favorable terms.

We are Subject to Various Risks Related to Qur Use of, and Dependence on, Debt,

The amount we have to pay on variable rate debt, such as our $135 million uncollateralized line of credit,
increases as interest rates increase, which may decrease cash available for distribution to shareholders. We can not
assure you that the Company will be able to meet its debt service obligations. If we do not meet our debt service
obligations, we risk the loss of some or all of our assets to foreclosure. Changes in economic conditions and/or our
financial results or prospects could (a) result in higher interest rates on variable rate debt, (b) reduce the availability
of debt financing generally or debt financing at favorable rates, (c) reduce cash available for distribution to
shareholders and (d) increase the risk that we could be forced to liquidate assets to repay debt, any of which could
have a material adverse affect us.

At December 31, 2001, we were in compliance with all of our debt covenants. We believe, however, that
if hotel industry conditions continued at their currently depressed levels into mid-2002, we will violate one or more
covenants under our $135 million line of credit. As a result, we are seeking to obtain an amendment to the line of
credit that would revise one or more covenants for 2002, so that, based on our current expectations about our 2002
results, we will not violate any covenants in 2002. However, there is no assurance that (a) such amendment will be
obtained, (b) we will not violate covenants under the line of credit even as amended, or, (c) if the expected
amendment for 2002 is obtained, when the current covenants are reinstated on January 1, 2003 that we will be in
compliance or, if not, that a similar amendment can be obtained.

If we violate covenants in our debt agreements, including under our $135 million line of credit, we could
be required to repay all or a portion of our indebtedness before maturity at a time when we might be unable to
arrange financing for such repayment on attractive terms, if at all. Violations of certain line of credit covenants
may result in our being unable to borrow unused amounts under our line of credit, even if repayment of some or all
borrowings is not required.

In any event, financial covenants under our current or future debt obligations could impair our planned
business strategies, by limiting our ability to borrow (a) beyond certain amounts or (b) for certain purposes.

Our Ability to Maintain Qur Historic Rate of Distributions to Qur Shareholders is Subject to Fluctuations in
Qur Financial Performance, Operating Results and Capital Improvements Requirements.

As a REIT, we are required to distribute at least 90% of our taxable income each year to our shareholders.
Our current policy is to distribute to shareholders 100% of our taxable income each year. In the event of continued
or future downturns in our operating results and financial performance or unanticipated capital improvements to our
hotels, we may be unable to declare or pay distributions to our shareholders at the rates we have previously paid
them. (See “Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Shareholder Matters” in the first part of this
report.) The timing and amount of distributions are in the sole discretion of our Board of Trustees, which will
consider, among other factors, our financial performance, debt service obligations and applicable debt covenants (if
any), and capital expenditure requirements. We cannot assure you either that we will continue to generate sufficient
cash in order to fund distributions at the same rate as our historic rate, or that our Board of Trustees will continue to
maintain our distribution rate at the same levels as we have in the past.




Among the factors which could adversely affect our results of operations and decrease our distributions to
shareholders are reduced rents from our lessees under the Percentage Leases; increased debt service requirements,
including those resulting from higher interest rates on variable rate indebtedness; and capital expenditures at our
hotels, including capital expenditures required by the franchisors of our hotels. Among the factors which could
reduce the rents of our lessees under the Percentage Leases are decreases in hotel revenues. Hotel revenue can
decrease for a number of reasons, including increased competition from new hotels and decreased demand for hotel
rooms. These factors can reduce both occupancy and room rates at our hotels and reduce rents to be received by us
under the Percentage Leases from our lessees.

Qur Ability Te Make Distributions To Shareholders May Be Affected By Factors Beyond Qur Control.

Operating Risks.

Our hotels are subject to various operating risks common to the hotel industry, many of which are beyond
our control, including the following:

° our hotels compete with other hotel properties in their geographic markets and many of our competitors
have substantial marketing and financial resources;

° over-building in our markets, which adversely affects occupancy and revenues at our hotels; and

° adverse effects of general, regional and local economic conditions and increases in energy costs (e.g. recent
electricity cost increases in California and the Pacific Northwest) or labor costs and other expenses
affecting travel, which may affect travel patterns and reduce the number of business and commercial

travelers and tourists.

These factors could adversely affect our lessees’ hotel revenues and expenses and their ability to make
lease payments, which in turn would adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our shareholders.

Concentration of Investment in California, Pacific Northwest, Florida, Illinois, Texas and Michigan.

Eleven of our hotels are located in California, eight of which are in the greater San Francisco/San Jose area.
In addition, six of our hotels are located in the Pacific Northwest (five in the Seattle area), five of our hotels are
located in each of Florida and Michigan and four of our hotels are located in each of the Chicago, Illinois and
Dallas, Texas areas. Adverse events, such as economic recessions or natural disasters, including earthquakes,
hurricanes or high-wind, could cause a loss of revenues from these hotels, which may be greater as a result of our
concentration of assets in these areas. We may not carry insurance coverage for these losses, or the insurance may
be insufficient to replace our investment or otherwise restore our economic position with respect to a hotel. That
could result in less cash available for distribution to shareholders.

In 2001, the technology-related business sector suffered a substantial downturn, including many
bankruptcies and layoffs, which dramatically reduced business travel. The technology sector is largely concentrated
in California, and in particular the Silicon Valley where eight of our California hotels are located. The technology
sector downturn more severely reduced related business travel than the business travel reduction resulting from the
downturn in the economy in general. As a result, in 2001, revenue from our eight Silicon Valley, California hotels
decreased 26% from 2000, and also decreased as a percentage of overall revenue from 28% in 2000 to 24% in
2001. Our concentration in California made the negative affects of the economic recession on our business more
pronounced as compared to some hotel companies with less concentration in California. Due to the severity of the
downturn and questions about the viability and ability to obtain financing of substantial parts of the technology
sector, we cannot predict whether, when or to what extent this sector will rebound as compared to the economy in
general. We believe, though, that the recovery in this sector is likely to lag a recovery in the general economy, and
there is no assurance that our hotels will succeed in finding hotel business to wholly replace the business lost from
the technology sector (and related businesses).
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Capital Expenditures.

Our hotels have an ongoing need for renovations and other capital improvements, including replacements,
from time to time, of furniture, fixtures and equipment. The franchisors of our hotels may also require periodic
capital improvements as a condition of keeping the franchise licenses. Generally, we are responsible for the costs of
these capital improvements, which gives rise to the following risks:

° cost overruns and delays;

° renovations can be disruptive to operations and can displace revenue at the hotels, including revenue lost
while rooms under renovation are out of service;

° the cost of funding renovations and the possibility that financing for these renovations may not be available
on attractive terms; and

° the risk that the return on our investment in these capital improvements will not be what we expect.

We have in the past funded capital expenditures from cash flow from operations and, to a lesser degree, by
borrowing. There can be no assurance that we will not need to borrow to fund future capital improvements. See
Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Capital Expenditures” in the first part

of this report.

Competition For Guests.

The upscale extended-stay and mid-price segments of the hotel business are highly competitive. Our hotels
compete on the basis of location, room rates and quality, service levels, reputation, and reservation systems, among
many other factors. There are many competitors in our market segments, and many of them have substantially
greater marketing and financial resources than the Company or its operators. New hotels are always being
constructed and opening, and these additions to supply create new competitors, in some cases without corresponding
increases in demand for hotel rooms. The result in some cases may be lower revenue, which would result in lower
cash available for distribution to shareholders.

Competition for Acquisitions; Sales.

We compete for hotel acquisitions with entities that have similar investment objectives as we do and that
have substantially greater financial resources than we have. These entities generally may be able to accept more risk
than we can manage wisely. They may also have better relations with franchisors, sellers or lenders. This
competition could limit the number of suitable investment opportunities offered to us. It may also increase the
bargaining power of property owners seeking to sell to us, making it more difficult for us to acquire new properties
on attractive terms.

We may decide to sell hotels, for a variety of reasons. We cannot assure you that we will be able to sell
any hotels on favorable terms, or that hotels will not be sold for a loss.

Seasonality of Hotel Business.

The hotel industry is seasonal in nature. Generally, occupancy rates and hotel revenues are greater in the
second and third quarters than in the first and fourth quarters. This seasonality can cause quarterly fluctuations in
our revenues.

Investment Concentration in Particular Segments of Single Industry.

Our entire business is hotel-related. Our current investment strategy is to own primarily upscale extended
stay hotels, primarily Residence Inn by Marriott hotels, and limited service hotels, primary Hampton Inns. Adverse
conditions in the hotel industry, in our segments of the industry or in the Residence Inn by Marriott or Hampton Inn




brands, will have a material adverse effect on our lease revenues and cash available for distribution to our
shareholders.

QOur Development Activities Mayv Be More Costly Than We Have Anticipated.

As part of our growth strategy, we plan to develop additional hotels. Development involves many substantial risks,
which include the following:

° actual development costs may exceed our budgeted or contracted amounts;

° construction delays may prevent us from opening hotels on schedule;

o we may not be able to obtain all necessary zoning, land use, building, occupancy and construction permits;
° our developed properties may not achieve our desired revenue or profit goals;

° we face intense competition for suitable development sites from competitors with greater financial

resources than ours; and

° we may incur substantial development costs and then have to abandon a development project before
completion.

Investment Risks Im The Real Estate Industry Gemerally Mav Adversely Affect Cur Ability To Make
Distributions To Qur Sharehelders.

General Risks of Investing in Real Estate.

Our investments in hotels are subject to varying degrees of risk that generally arise form the ownership of
real property. The underlying value of our real estate investments and our income and ability to make distributions
to our shareholders depend upon the ability of the operators of our hotels to maintain or increase room revenues.
Both income from our hotels and our ability to make distributions may be adversely affected by changes beyond our
control, including the following:

° adverse changes in national and local economic and market conditions;
° changes in interest rates and in the availability, cost and terms of mortgage financing;
° changes in governmental laws and regulations, fiscal policies and zoning ordinances and the related costs

of compliance with laws and regulations, fiscal policies and ordinances;

° the ongoing need for capital improvements, particularly in older structures;
° changes in real property tax rates and other operating expenses;
J civil unrest, acts of God, including earthquakes, floods and other natural disasters (which may result in

uninsured losses) and acts of war; and

° the relative illiquidity of real estate investments (see also " -- Conflicts of Interest and Related Party
Transactions - Jeffrey H. Fisher,"” "- Jack P. DeBoer” and "- Rolf E. Ruhfus” above).

Uninsured and Underinsured Losses.

Comprehensive insurance is maintained on each of our Hotels, including liability, property and casualty
and extended coverage. We believe that the insurance is of the type and amount customarily obtained by owners
and operators of hotels similar to ours.




All 11 of our hotels in California (and certain of our other hotels, such as our five hotels in the Pacific
Northwest) are located in areas that are subject to earthquake activity. These hotels are located in areas of high
seismic risk and some were constructed under pre-1985 building codes. No assurance can be given that an
earthquake would not render significant damage to the hotels that have been constructed in compliance with more
recent building codes, or are in areas of lower seismic risk. Additionally, areas in Florida where five of our hotels
are located may experience hurricane or high-wind activity. The Company has earthquake insurance policies on
our hotels in California and wind insurance policies on certain of our hotels located in Florida. However, recovery
under these policies are subject to substantial deductibles, and there is no assurance that this insurance will fully
fund the re-building or restoration of a hotel impacted by an earthquake, hurricane or high wind.

Various types of catastrophic losses may not be insurable or may not be economically insurable. In the
event of a substantial loss, our insurance coverage may not cover the full current market value or replacement cost
of our lost investment. Inflation, changes in building codes and ordinances, environmental considerations and other
factors might cause insurance proceeds to be insufficient to fully replace or renovate a hotel after it has been
damaged or destroyed.

See “--Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions — Jack P. DeBoer” above.

Failure To Comply With Gevernmental Regulations Could Affect Qur Qperating Results.

Environmental Matters.

Under various federal, state and local laws and regulations, an owner or operator of real estate may be
liable for the costs of removal or remediation of certain hazardous or toxic substances on such property. The law
often imposes liability whether or not the owner knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of hazardous
substances. Furthermore, a person that arranges for the disposal or transports for disposal or treatment of a
hazardous substance at a property owned by another may be liable for the costs of removal or remediation of
hazardous substances released into the environment at that property. The costs of remediation or removal of such
substances may be very substantial, and the presence of such substances, or the failure to promptly remediate such
substances, may adversely affect the owner’s ability to sell real estate or to borrow using such real estate as
collateral. We may be potentially liable for any such costs, and these costs could be very substantial.

We generally obtain Phase 1 environmental site assessments (“ESAs™) on our hotels at the time of
acquisition. The ESAs are intended to identify potential environmental contamination. The ESAs include a
historical review of the hotel, a review of certain public records, a preliminary investigation of the site and
surrounding properties, screening for the presence of hazardous substances and underground storage tanks, and the
preparation and issuance of a written report. The ESAs that we have obtained did not include invasive procedures,
such as soil sampling or ground water analysis.

The ESAs that we have obtained did not reveal any environmental liability or compliance concerns that we
believe would have a material adverse effect on our business, assets, results of operations or liquidity, nor are we
aware of any such liability. Nevertheless, it is possible that these ESAs do not reveal all environmental liabilities or
that there are material environmental liabilities or compliance concerns that we are not aware of. Moreover, we
cannot assure you that (i) future laws, ordinances or regulations will not impose material environmental liability, or
(i1) the current environmental condition of a hotel will not be affected by the condition of properties in the vicinity
of the hotels (such as the presence of leaking underground storage tanks) or by third parties unrelated to us.

Americans With Disabilities Act.

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, or the "ADA", all public accommodations must meet
various federal requirements to access and use by disabled persons. Compliance with the ADA’s requirements
could require removal of access barriers, and our failure to comply could result in the U.S. government imposing
fines or in private litigants winning damages. If we are required to make substantial modifications to our hotels,
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whether to comply with the ADA or other changes in governmental rules and regulations, our ability to make
distributions to our shareholders could be adversely affected.

Fluctuations In Property Taxes and Insurance Costs Can Adversely Affect Qur Distributions To Qur
Shareholders.

Each of our hotels is subject to real and personal property taxes. These taxes on our hotel properties may
increase or decrease as tax rates change and as the properties are assessed or reassessed by taxing authorities. If
property taxes increase, our ability to make distributions to our shareholders could be adversely affected.

We carry insurance on all of our hotels and our business. Our insurance costs will rise dramatically for the
2002 insurance year (ending October 1) as compared to the 2001 insurance year. These increases were due
primarily to the disruption in the insurance markets caused by the September 11 terrorist attacks and to significant
payouts that our insurers have made or may have to make in the future on certain covered claims by or against us.
These factors, as well as any future covered losses, may result in (a) our insurance costs continuing to rise, (b) our
inability to obtain (or economically obtain) important insurance coverages and/or (c) an increased risk of exposure
to casualties if our insurance deductibles are substantially increased or the limits of our insurance coverages are
substantially reduced. While in absolute dollars property tax is a much larger expense than insurance for us, our
ability to make distributions could be adversely affected if insurance costs continue to increase. See “Conflicts of
Interest and Related Party Transactions — Jack P. DeBoer” above.

Franchise Requirements Could Adversely Affect Qur Distributions To Qur Shareholders.

Our managers must comply with operating standards and terms and conditions imposed by the franchisors
of the hotel brands under which our hotels operate. The franchisors periodically inspect their licensed hotels to
confirm adherence to their operating standards. The failure of a hotel to maintain standards could result in the loss
or cancellation of a franchise license. With respect to operational standards, we rely on our operators to conform to
such standards. The franchisors may also require us to make certain capital improvements to maintain the hotel in
accordance with system standards, the cost of which can be substantial. It is possible that a franchisor could
condition the continuation of a franchise on the completion of capital improvements which management or the
Board of Trustees determines are too expensive or otherwise not economically feasible in light of general economic
conditions or the operating results or prospects of the affected hotel. In that event, the management or the Board of
Trustees may elect to allow the franchise to lapse or be terminated. The IH Lessee is obligated to fund any
operating loss at a hotel operated by Marriott. Operating losses could result from a number of factors, including
increased expenses resulting from changes in Marriott’s system standards. The IH Lessee has limited assets from
which to fund operating losses. If the IH Lessee fails or is unable to fund such operating losses, Marriott may have
the right to terminate the related Marriott management agreement and with it the affected hotel’s right to operate
under a Marriott brand. In addition, when the term of a franchise expires, the franchisor has no obligation to issue a
new franchise. The loss of a franchise could have a material adverse effect on the operations or the underlying value
of the affected hotel because of the loss of associated name recognition, marketing support and centralized
reservation systems provided by the franchisor. The loss of a franchise could also have a material adverse effect on
cash available for distribution to shareholders.

QOur Board Of Trustees May Change Qur Major Policies At Any Time,

Many of our major corporate policies, including our acquisitions, growth, operations and distribution
policies, are determined by our Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees may amend or revise these and other
policies at any time without the vote or consent of our shareholders.

Provisions Of Qur Declaration Of Trust And Maryland Law May Limit The Ability Of A Third Party To
Acquire Control Of Qur Company.

Ownership Limitation.

To preserve our tax status as a REIT, our Declaration of Trust provides that no person may directly or
indirectly own more than 9.8% of our common shares and preferred shares. This may prevent an acquisition of
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control of our company by a third party without our Board of Trustees’ approval, even if shareholders believe the
change of control is in their best interest.

Staggered Board of Trustees.

Under our Declaration of Trust, our Board of Trustees has three classes of Trustees. Trustees for each class
are elected for staggered three-year terms. The staggered terms of our Trustees may restrict the ability to change
control of our company, even if shareholders believe a change of control is in their best interest. The staggered
terms for our Trustees may also discourage offers or other bids being made for our shares at a premium over the
market price.

Authority to Issue Preferred Stock.

Our Declaration of Trust authorizes the Board of Trustees to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred
stock and to establish the preferences and rights of any shares issued. We issued 4,630,000 Series A Cumulative
Convertible Preferred shares in 1998. The issuance of shares of preferred stock may have the effect of delaying or
preventing a change in control of our company, even if shareholders believe that a change of control is in their best
interest.

Maryland Anti-Takeover Statutes.

We are subject to various laws found in Maryland law placing restrictions and requiring compliance with
various procedures designed to protect the shareholders of Maryland REITs against unfair or coercive mergers and
acquisitions. These restrictions and procedural requirements may discourage takeover offers for, or changes in
control of our company, even if shareholders believe that such events may be in their interest.

Qur Failure To Qualify As A REIT Under The Federal Tax Laws Will Result In Adverse Tax Consequences.

The Company has elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856-860 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”). If we qualify as a REIT, with certain exceptions, we will not be subject to federal
income tax at the Company level on our taxable income that is distributed to shareholders. A REIT is subject to a
number of organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement that it currently distribute at least
90% of its annual taxable income. Failure to qualify as a REIT will render the Company subject to federal income
tax (including any applicable minimum tax) on its taxable income at regular corporate rates and distributions to the
holders of Common Shares in any such year will not be deductible by the Company. If the Internal Revenue Service
were to challenge successfully the tax status of the Partnership as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, the
Partnership would be taxable as a corporation. In that event, the Company would likely cease to qualify as a REIT
for a variety of reasons. Although the Company does not intend to request a ruling from the Internal Revenue
Service as to its REIT status, the Company has, in the past, obtained the opinion of its legal counsel that, as of the
date of the opinion, the Company qualifies as a REIT. These opinions were based on certain assumptions and
representations and are not binding on the Internal Revenue Service or any court. Even if we qualify for taxation as
a REIT, we are subject to certain federal, state and local taxes on our income and property.

©Our Share Ownership Limitation May Prevent Certain Transfers Of Our Common Shares.

In order to maintain our qualification as a REIT, not more than 50% in value of our outstanding shares of
beneficial interest may be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Code to
include certain entities). Furthermore, if any shareholder or group of shareholders of one of the lessees of our hotels
owns, actually or constructively, 10% or more of our shares of beneficial interest, the lessee could become a
related-party tenant of the Company, which likely would result in loss of our REIT status (a “taxable REIT
subsidiary” is exempt from this rule). For the purpose of preserving our REIT qualification, our Declaration of
Trust prohibits direct or indirect ownership (taking into account applicable ownership provisions of the Code) of
more than 9.8% of the outstanding common shares or any other class of outstanding shares of beneficial interest by
any shareholder or group (the “Cwnership Limitation”). Generally, the shares of beneficial interest owned by
related or affiliated owners will be aggregated for purposes of the Ownership Limitation. Any transfer of shares of
beneficial interest that would prevent us from continuing to qualify as a REIT under the Code will be void ab initio,
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the intended transferee of such shares will be deemed never to have had an interest in such shares, and such shares
will be designated “Shares-in-Trust.” Further, we will be deemed to have been offered Shares-in-Trust for purchase
at the lesser of the market price (as defined in the Declaration of Trust) on the date we accept the offer and the price
per share in the transaction that created such Shares-in-Trust (or, in the case of a gift, devise or non-transfer event
[as defined in the Declaration of Trust], the market price on the date of such gift, devise or non-transfer event).
Therefore, the record holder of shares of beneficial interest in excess of the Ownership Limitation will experience a
financial loss when such shares are redeemed, if the market price falls between the date of purchase and the date of
redemption.

We have, in limited instances from time to time, permitted certain owners to own shares in excess of the
Ownership Limitation. The Board of Trustees has waived the Ownership Limitation for such owners after following
procedures set out in the Company’s Declaration of Trust, under which the owners requesting the waivers provided
certain information and the Company’s counsel provided certain legal opinions. These waivers established levels of
permissible share ownership for the owners requesting the waivers that are higher than the Ownership Limitation - if
the owners acquire shares in excess of the higher limits, those shares are subject to the risks described above in the
absence of further waivers. The Board of Trustees is not obligated to grant such waivers and has no current
intention to do so with respect to any owners who (individually or aggregated as the Declaration of Trust requires)
do not currently own shares in excess of the Ownership Limitation.
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